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About
LAWPRO

Our mission

LAWPRO provides primary errors and omissions insurance
coverage for Ontario lawyers, Excess insurance for law
firms and TitlePLUS title insurance across Canada.

to provide insurance
products and services that
enhance the viability and
competitive position of the
legal profession through
the values of

Leadership

Professionalism
Integrity

Service
Innovation

In 2019
LAWPRO provided:

LIABILITY INSURANCE:

EXCESS INSURANCE:

TITLEPLUS:

almost 28,000

1,500

over 21,000

members of the
Law Society of Ontario

law firms

Title insurance policies

Remarks of the Chair

2019
Annual
report
Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Company

The changes the world has experienced from when we started production of this Annual Report just a few months
ago are staggering. The COVID-19 pandemic has brought rapid and vast transformations in almost every aspect
of our lives. These transformations have also affected the legal profession and LAWPRO, and will continue to do
so in significant ways.
In fulfillment of the mandate given to us by Convocation more than two decades ago, LAWPRO navigates a careful
balancing act: keeping revenues high enough to be commercially viable and satisfy regulators that the company
is financially healthy, while handling claims and carefully controlling premiums to maintain affordability and
properly reflect the cost of risk.
The financial statements in the following pages demonstrate our attention to maintaining a stable and reliable base
for our insureds, even with changes like those brought on by the COVID-19 pandemic. We remain financially healthy
because we have planned for scenarios similar to what we are now experiencing as part of the risk management
strategies put in place by our Board and our corporate governance process.
LAWPRO will continue to pay claims when mistakes are made and will adapt to meet the challenges we will face
in the remainder of 2020 and future years. Good claims service and financial stability not only protect Ontario
lawyers, but also indirectly, the public. I believe the trust given to LAWPRO by the Law Society of Ontario and
its members has been well earned given the company’s consistent performance as seen in this Annual Report.
LAWPRO will continue to serve and support Ontario lawyers in 2020 as we tackle together the challenges of the
COVID-19 pandemic.

Andrew J. Spurgeon
Andrew J. Spurgeon
Chair
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What a difference a few months makes. The first draft of these remarks were written in late January. As I rewrite
them to reflect the incredible events and changes of the last several weeks, 2019 seems like a distant memory. Like
most businesses and law firms, LAWPRO has moved to a work from home protocol and we are adjusting well to
this new paradigm. And like the 28,000 lawyers we insure, we look forward with a sense of trepidation, about the
changes we will see in the coming months and beyond.
As detailed in this report, LAWPRO ended 2019 as a strong company in a healthy financial position. At the end
of the year, our Minimum Capital Test result was 242 per cent, slightly above the top end of the preferred range
set by the LAWPRO Board. Thankfully, with the strength of our 2019 results, and the risk management planning
our Board does in contemplation of catastrophic events, I am confident that LAWPRO remains in a solid financial
position, despite the rapid market decline in early 2020 and the resulting drop in our Minimum Capital Test result.
We are experiencing a global reset - for the economy, for how business is done, and how we live our lives. Looking
forward, I expect there will be further changes and new pressures on LAWPRO and the lawyers we insure. Many
firms are seeing changes in demand – down or up – depending on the kind of work they do and who their clients
are. Variations in the amount or type of work that lawyers are doing and economic changes will undoubtedly result
in changes to the claims that LAWPRO will see. In the past, economic downturns have driven up the count and cost
of claims as clients want out of deals and blame their lawyers for their financial problems. We will respond and
adapt to these changes as required. An increase in claims costs may mean an increase in the LAWPRO premium.
In 2019 we handled almost 3,000 new claims and closed the year with just over 4,000 open claims files. Only
14 per cent of our claims files are closed with an indemnity payment. In other words, we successfully defended
lawyers on 86 per cent of our files. I’m very proud of the complimentary feedback we receive from the lawyers
for whom we have handled claims.
I thank everyone on the LAWPRO team for stepping up and responding to the challenges and changes we have
faced over the last several weeks. My senior management team is working hard to make and support the changes
we are facing, and the LAWPRO Board of Directors is engaged in a discussion about how LAWPRO should
prepare for and respond to the changes the company will face. In the coming months, and thereafter, we will
all strive to provide the same level of service to you. LAWPRO will continue to be there to support lawyers and
protect the public.

Daniel E. Pinnington
Daniel E. Pinnington
President & CEO
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Managing more

Rising to the challenge of more
In each of the last two years, the number of lawyers insured under the LAWPRO program has increased by
approximately two per cent. In 2019, the company provided E&O coverage to just over 27,900 lawyers, up
from 27,300 in 2018.
More licensees means more potential claims. But LAWPRO is meeting that challenge with its own “more:” more
efficiencies, more value, and more assistance.

More closures of claims
In 2019, LAWPRO received 3,121 reported claims, an increase of
seven per cent over the 2,909 reported in 2018. This is primarily due
to the growing size of the profession, as the frequency of claims per
1,000 lawyers has remained relatively consistent since 2011.
LAWPRO has taken steps to address the increase in reported claims.
We added more claims professionals in 2019 to ensure all claims are
dealt with in a timely and effective manner. This means more file
closures and more resolutions of claims. As well, LAWPRO is constantly adding more practice management content to our AvoidAClaim
blog and practicePRO website. These resources help the profession
avoid claims in the first place.

Number of claims reported
and open claims files
*As at February 27, 2020
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LAWPRO survey results

The annual survey of LAWPRO E&O insureds with a closed claim indicated the following

96 per cent

87 per cent

86 per cent

88 per cent

said that they were satisfied
with how LAWPRO handled
the claim

said they were satisfied with
our process of selecting
defence counsel

said they would have
the defence counsel firm
represent them again

said LAWPRO received
good value for defence
monies spent

Number of claims per 1,000 lawyers

More reported claims doesn’t have to mean
more payouts

*By report year, as at December 31, 2019

LAWPRO’s claims management philosophy is to resolve claims
quickly in situations where there is liability, defend vigorously if the
claim has no merit, and avoid economic settlements.
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In 2019, LAWPRO won nine of ten matters brought to trial and
in which a decision was rendered, 16 of 19 summary judgment
applications, and all three summary judgment appeals brought by
claimants. LAWPRO was also able to avoid the costs of trial altogether
by obtaining 15 favourable claimant capitulations prior to summary
judgment motions.
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2019 Distribution of claims by area of
practice* (% of gross claims costs)

Areas of loss
Continuing the pattern we have seen for almost 20 years, litigation
and real estate were once again the areas of law that saw the most
claims. 2019 saw 822 litigation-related claims, up from 723 the
previous year, and 648 real estate-related claims, up from 579. As
a share of total claims last year, litigation accounted for 31 per cent
and real estate accounted for 24 per cent.

*As at February 27, 2020

6.0%
Family

11.0%

31.2%

All Other

The increase in litigation and real estate-related claims accounted
for almost all of the total increase in new claims. Because of this
asymmetry in claims among practice areas, LAWPRO continues
to apply transaction levies to new files opened by licensees in real
estate and non-family civil litigation.

Litigation

11.6%

Wills, Estates

LAWPRO will continue to monitor areas of loss, and take steps to
address current and upcoming trends. After non-family civil litigation and real estate, the next-highest areas of concentrated claims
were wills & estates and family law, accounting for 10 per cent of
total claims each.

12.9%

27.2%

Corp/Bank/
Sec/Tax/IP

Real Estate

Causes of loss
The investigation of claims can take up to a year or more after an
initial report. LAWPRO takes care to distinguish between shortterm fluctuations and systemic common errors. Our data continues
to show consistent long-term trends that Ontario lawyers should
be aware of.

Reported claims count
by cause of loss in 2019

Communication errors were once again the most common causes
of claims in 2019. There were 724 communication-related claims
in 2019, an increase from 644 the previous year.

3.4%

6.3%

We also saw more time management-related errors in 2019: 494
compared with 418 the previous year. This is a reduction from the
high of 570 time management-related errors we saw in 2011. This
confirms LAWPRO’s expectations following the introduction
of Rule 48, which led to a temporary increase in administrative
dismissals and a corresponding temporary increase in time
management claims.

Clerical Error

7.2%

Conflict of
Interest

1.2%
Fraud

27.9%

Communication

Other

15.1%

Know/Apply
the Law

In general, we continue to see that communication errors, inadequate
investigation, time management, and errors of law are the four most
common causes of claims in Ontario, in that order.

19%

Time
Management

7

19.9%

Inadequate
Investigation

Coverage and insurance options
the cost of insurance with its associated risks and pursues a fair
balance among Ontario lawyers in private practice. Real estate and
In 2019, LAWPRO once again successfully managed projected claims
non-family civil litigation continue to be the most expensive areas
costs through claims management and cost containment efforts,
of law for LAWPRO claims.
together with investment income. Despite seeing more claims in 2019
than the previous year, LAWPRO is once again able to maintain
Although the number of civil litigation and real estate claims continthe base premium level of $2,950.
ues to increase at a greater rate than other areas of law, the current
transaction levies of $100 for civil litigation transactions and $65
This base premium has been unchanged since the 2016 policy year.
for real estate transactions continue to adequately address this
One of the hallmarks of the LAWPRO E&O insurance program
asymmetry. LAWPRO acts carefully on risk-rating decisions, and
is its flexibility. Lawyers have a number of options to tailor their
insurance coverage to their specific needs – often with the added
benefit of reducing the actual premium payable below the base
premium level. The number of lawyers availing themselves of these
options continues to increase as shown in the chart to the right.

More value for premiums collected

In terms of coverage, LAWPRO focused on refining the details and
terms of the Primary Policy, leading to more clarity for all parties.
As examples, for the 2020 policy year, LAWPRO refined the definitions under the Policy for “spouse,” “dishonest conduct,” and the
“circumstances” in which notice of a claim or potential claim must
be provided, in order to reduce confusion and unpredictability for
our licensees. For more information on these changes, please see
the October 2019 issue of LAWPRO Magazine.

Coverage
Option

No. of Lawyers participating
as of January 31, 2020

New Lawyer Discount
20 to 50 per cent base premium discount
for those called in the last one to four years

Part-Time 
Practice Discount

Fair distribution of claims costs
In 2018, the civil litigation levy was raised to address the long term
trend of increasing costs in this area. This complements the alreadyexisting levy applied to real estate transactions. These fees align

Restricted Area 
of Practice Option

1,754

50 per cent base premium discount
for immigration/criminal law practitioners

6,000
5,500

Innocent Party buy-up

5,000

Increase in Innocent Party sublimits up to
as much as $1 million per claim/aggregate

4,500

$2,950

Run-Off buy-up

base premium
per lawyer

3,836
1,415

Increase limits for past services from
$250,000 per claim/aggregate to as much
as $1 million per claim/$2 million aggregate

3,500
3,000

Real Estate Fraud 
Coverage Option

2,500
2,000

Required for all lawyers practising real
estate law in Ontario. Sublimit coverage
of $250,000 per claim/$1 million aggregate

0
1500
1995

2,258

50 per cent base premium discount
for eligible lawyers

Base premium per lawyer

4,000

5,645

2020
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our analysis will continue over the long term to continue to gain
perspective and determine long-term implications.

Since it was established in 1997, LAWPRO’s optional Excess Insurance
program has posted consistent annual growth in revenues and
numbers of law firms (and lawyers) insured under the program.
An impressive 1,535 firms representing 3,829 lawyers received
their excess insurance from LAWPRO as at the end of 2019—
202 firms chose the maximum $9 million limit option.

Coverage for new lawyers and those retiring
For new or retiring lawyers, LAWPRO offers reduced premiums to
address their reduced risk profiles. New lawyers see fewer claims
than those with more experience, which may be partly due to
often having less responsibility over various files than their senior
colleagues. LAWPRO responds to the reduced risk inherent in
new lawyers by providing premium discounts to those with less
than four years of practice. This discount ranges from 50 per cent
of base premium (for lawyers with less than one full year in practice)
to 20 per cent of base premium (for lawyers with between three
and four years in practice).

With 116 new firms opting to buy excess coverage from LAWPRO,
our client base saw approximately three per cent growth from the
previous year. LAWPRO’s retention rate on excess business of
94 per cent is evidence that this program meets the needs of the
small and medium-sized firms of fewer than 50 lawyers that it is
designed to serve.

The TitlePLUS Program

For lawyers that are retiring or leaving private practice and provide
notice of such, LAWPRO offers Run-Off coverage of $250,000
per claim and in the aggregate, at no charge. Additional coverage
options are available for lawyers who need more protection beyond
that amount.

The TitlePLUS program is the only wholly Canadian-owned title
insurance program available in Canada. It is underwritten by
LAWPRO and protects not only Canadian homeowners and lenders,
but also lawyers through included legal services coverage which covers
errors and omissions made by the lawyer for the entire transaction
(excluding properties in Quebec and OwnerEXPRESS® policies).

Excess Insurance

The TitlePLUS program participated in the fight against real estate
fraud to the benefit of all who want a crime free real estate market,
by declining over $2.5 million in TitlePLUS policy coverage for
potentially fraudulent transactions in 2019.

LAWPRO’s Excess program insures approximately 15 per cent of the
lawyers employed in firms of 50 or fewer lawyers. Prudent underwriting and solid claims management have helped ensure that the
Excess program is a successful line of business for LAWPRO.

Service

In 2019

More convenience. More ease-of-use.
More value.
LAWPRO’s Underwriting & Customer Service department is the
point of contact for licensees seeking to renew, change, or inquire
about their insurance options, including the primary policy. A new
account is established soon after a lawyer is called to the Ontario bar,
and existing accounts are adjusted as lawyers move their practice,
or move out of private practice entirely. In 2019, the primary policy
for more than 27,900 lawyers in private practice was renewed
following the Law Society of Ontario’s convocation.
LAWPRO takes its commitment to customer service seriously.
Consisting of approximately 25 team members, the department is
responsible for maintaining accurate records for all insured; policy
drafting; creation of program guides, forms, and other explanatory
materials; underwriting optional coverages; processing filings; and
answering questions from licensees. LAWPRO receives approximately 31,000 phone calls a year, along with approximately 25,000
pieces of correspondence. Every call and email is important to us.

PRIMARY
POLICIES

PHONE CALLS
RECEIVED BY LAWPRO

more than
27,900

31,000

CUSTOMER
SERVICE TEAM

CORRESPONDENCE
RECEIVED BY LAWPRO

25 members

25,000

In 2019, LAWPRO introduced new efficiencies to our renewal
process, including “one-click” renewal options for currently
exempt lawyers seeking to renew that exemption without any
changes. These efforts to streamline the process create more
convenience for lawyers, and provide our team with more time to
address each licensee’s needs. n
9
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Repairs
When potential claims are expeditiously reported to
LAWPRO, we are often able to rectify the problem
and prevent actual claims from arising. Our
counsel know how to best address issues
such as missed limitation periods,
rectifications of powers of attorney,
and misnomer amendments.
Here are a few examples of cases
where LAWPRO successfully
repaired potential losses in 2019.
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and took the position that the error barred pursuing the appeal any
further. The error was reported to LAWPRO, and steps were immediately taken to rectify it.

Will interpretation: One win;
countless winners
A single decision that dramatically alters the common law can
have ramifications for countless non-parties that rely on the status
quo. Such was the case with 2018’s Milne Estate (Re) decision in
the Ontario Superior Court.

A motion was filed to extend time to deliver a notice of appeal. The
Respondent took the position that they would be prejudiced by
granting an extension to the limitation period. The Respondent
pointed to the time and costs associated with continued litigation,
and the risk that they would not be able to recover any judgment
or costs awarded against the Appellant, who was not a resident of
Canada. The Respondent also pointed to the Appellant’s pattern of
breaching court orders throughout the litigation.

In that case, two testators had structured their affairs using
primary and secondary wills that gave their executors discretion
to divide the distribution of the estate between the two wills in
whatever manner they best saw fit (and would avoid unnecessary
probate fees or other costs). This was a common estate-planning
technique that had been adopted by numerous other estate lawyers in Ontario.

LAWPRO and the Appellant argued that it was only the prejudice
that would arise because of the one-day delay in filing the notice of
appeal that was relevant, not any prejudice caused by the appeal
itself. Since the Appellant had a bona fide intention to appeal, a
reasonably meritorious claim, and there was no relevant prejudice
to the Respondent, the extension should be allowed.

In the original decision, the probate judge questioned the validity
of this approach. Specifically, the judge found that the discretion
granted to the executors to determine which assets fell in which
will was invalid, and meant one of the two wills was a nullity for
lacking certainty of subject matter.

The court agreed with LAWPRO and the Appellant that there
was “clearly no merit to [the Respondent’s] prejudice argument.”
The failure to file the notice of appeal within the time limit was
not the fault of the Appellant, and was due to inadvertence on
the part of counsel. The court also found that the Appellant’s
pattern of default and breached orders was irrelevant in this
case, as the Respondent had previously been able to secure
payment for previous cost orders and rectify those past defaults.
The court affirmed that denying a motion such as this due to a
lack of merit was a very high bar.

This decision threatened not only the estate seeking probate, but
countless other estates in Ontario where a lawyer had used similar
language to divide assets between a primary and secondary will.
This could potentially lead to an untold number of professional
negligence claims in the future if those estate planning documents
all became nullities.
Thankfully, the estate, with the assistance of LAWPRO, appealed
the probate judge’s decision to a panel of the ONSC Divisional
Court, and LAWPRO was successful in having the probate
judge’s original decision overturned. The panel agreed that it
was an error of law for the probate judge to apply the trust
principles of “certainty of subject matter” to estate planning
documents that were not, in fact, trust documents themselves.
The common practice of using both a primary and secondary
will and granting discretion to executors to divide certain assets
between the two wills was affirmed as appropriate, to the
benefit of numerous other Ontario wills & estate lawyers.

With LAWPRO’s assistance, the extension was allowed, the error
was rectified, and the appeal was allowed to continue.

Misnomers: A defendant by any other name
When a plaintiff is unsure of the identity of the person or persons
that caused them harm, it is common practice to file suit against
unnamed defendants using placeholder names in order to avoid
looming limitation periods.

There is sometimes an itch at the back of a litigators mind: Does that
limitation period expire tomorrow or today? The potential for small
mistakes to lead to big consequences means missed limitation periods
are some of the most common causes of claims LAWPRO sees.

In this case, the Plaintiff suffered harm from allegedly negligent
medical care during a series of procedures. The complications from
these procedures included a temporary coma and negative reactions
to certain drugs that were administered. Because of sedation and the
Plaintiff ’s comatose state during a portion of their medical stay, they
were unsure of the identity of all persons that contributed to the
alleged medical malpractice.

In this case, a licensee inadvertently filed a notice of appeal one day
after the expiration of the 30-day limitation period. The Respondent
was not willing to consent to an extension of the limitation period,

The original Notice of Claim, therefore, included allegations against
an unnamed “Dr. Doe” and “Nurse Doe.” During the discovery
period, the Plaintiff identified six additional medical professionals

Limitation periods: Filing a day late, but not
an appeal short

11

that were potential defendants in the suit. However, instead of
amending the original Notice of Claim to add these defendants
and substitute their names for the placeholder pseudonyms, the
Plaintiff brought a second claim against the new defendants.

By the time this error was discovered, the client had become
incapacitated, and the document could not be rectified without
court approval.

After some additional discovery, the Plaintiff then brought a motion
to substitute the names of the new defendants for the pseudonyms
included in the original Claim. The new defendants objected to this
process, alleging that the motion to address the “misnomer” in the
original claim (that being the placeholder pseudonyms) was an abuse
of process, as they were not provided with notice of the original
claim and were already defendants in the second claim brought by
the Plaintiff.

LAWPRO was alerted and quickly assisted the licensee in obtaining a court-approved rectification, removing the erroneous
reference to “personal care,” and replacing it with the word
“property.” The order was stated to be effective nunc pro tunc,
and additional negative cost and consequences flowing from
the mistake were avoided.

An ounce of prevention is worth a pound
of cure

Although the judge found that the process by which the new defendants were brought into the lawsuit was not optimal (such as
the existence of the second, parallel claim), it was not an abuse of
process as it was within the Plaintiff ’s rights to take prophylactic
steps to ensure their claims against the new defendants were not
statute barred.

Every year, LAWPRO resolves potential claims before they become
actual claims. In 2019, 86 per cent of claims were closed without
any indemnity payment, and 35 per cent of claims were closed
without any defence costs whatsoever.
Immediately notifying LAWPRO of potential errors or omissions
means steps can be taken to resolve the situation before it develops
into a malpractice claim. If you make an error, or believe you could
be accused of making an error down the road, don’t try to resolve the
problem on your own. A call to LAWPRO means we can provide
expedient and experienced advice and assistance. n

The judge allowed the misnomer application and agreed with
LAWPRO that the original pleadings adequately pointed the “litigation finger” at all but one of the new defendants that the
plaintiff sought to now explicitly name in the original Claim. It
was not relevant whether the new defendants had been given
actual notice of the pleadings, but rather whether, if presented
with those pleadings, the proposed defendant could reasonably
see that they were a potential subject of the allegations raised.

Claims by disposition (outcome)

Easy fixes are easier (and safer) with
LAWPRO’s assistance

14%

were closed with
an indemnity payment

A typographical error in an important legal document can, thankfully, often be resolved without serious harm or headache. Particularly
if there is no party opposing its rectification. However, it’s still
important for counsel to alert LAWPRO to the existence of these
fixable errors, as LAWPRO counsel can ensure the most efficient
and effective steps are taken to put things as they are intended.

35%

In one recent case, it was discovered that a continuing power of
attorney document inadvertently made reference in the appointment
clause to the attorney being appointed “for personal care.” This,
despite the fact that the document was intended to provide the
attorney with the power to deal, not with personal care, but with
property. The erroneous language made the document ineffective
for its purpose.

were closed
without any
payment
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51%

were closed with
defence costs only
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Defending
lawyers in court
LAWPRO tries to resolve unfounded accusations without
litigation, but sometimes claims can only be resolved in
court. When a reasonable defence is available, LAWPRO
will step in to help licensees assert their rights.
A few examples of defences successfully advanced by
LAWPRO in 2019 on behalf of insureds are described
on the next few pages.

13

The Plaintiff sued the purchaser for fraud, conspiracy, negligent
misrepresentation, and breach of contract. The plaintiff also sued
their own lawyer in professional negligence for allowing the deal
to complete. The Plaintiff alleged that the Licensee should have
advised them to terminate the agreement.

Real estate –
Claims by non-clients
The solicitor-client relationship is the foundation for most negligence
suits against lawyers. Claims brought by non-clients are the exception, but they still must be defended when they arise.

The Licensee maintained that by the time they were retained, the
agreement had already been signed, and they had no ability to
improve the deal at that point. The Plaintiff ’s lack of bargaining
power prevented any renegotiation.

In a recent real estate dispute, LAWPRO successfully represented
a Licensee in a case brought by a non-client, which affirmed the
high bar such plaintiffs must reach and the narrow circumstances
in which such negligence claims will be allowed.

One potentially damaging issue that arose in the trial was the
Licensee’s minimal contemporaneous notes of conversations and
meetings. Judges will often favour the client’s testimony over their
lawyer’s when supporting documentation is not available. However,
in this case, the judge found that the Licensee’s testimony was more
reliable than that of the Plaintiff. The judge noted that, in multiple
instances, the Plaintiff ’s testimony-in-chief was contradicted by
other evidence provided in cross-examination and examinations
for discovery. As such, the Plaintiff ’s general lack of credibility led
the judge to depart from that expectation.

The Plaintiff was the alleged victim of mortgage fraud. The plaintiff
claimed this fraud was perpetrated by the Licensees client. The
underlying transaction involved a primary mortgage through an
institutional lender, which required that the remainder of the purchase price be paid by the Licensee’s client personally. However, the
client made clandestine arrangements for the Plaintiff to provide these
funds as a secondary private mortgage lender, in contravention of
the primary mortgage agreement.
The Plaintiff never received the promised equitable mortgage interest
in the property, and was unable to seek restitution against the alleged
fraudster client. The Plaintiff sued the Licensee for negligence on the
grounds that he either owed a duty of care to the Plaintiff as a third
party, or, in the alternative, that they had established a solicitorclient relationship through two short pieces of correspondence.

LAWPRO successfully assisted the Licensee in proving that they
met the standard of care, even with a paucity of supporting notes
and documentation. The judge found that the Licensee advised
the Plaintiff to obtain additional valuations for the property
before closing, and this advice was ignored. The judge also found
that the Licensee had made efforts to improve the deal for the
Plaintiff, but the buyer had made clear there was no room to
negotiate because of the Plaintiff’s dire financial situation.

LAWPRO successfully assisted the defendant in having the claim
dismissed. The judge agreed the Licensee’s communications
with the Plaintiff included language that presumed the Plaintiff
would obtain independent legal representation and advice. There
was therefore no solicitor-client relationship. As well, the Licensee
could not be responsible for professional negligence to the Plaintiff
as a third party, as the lawyer had no actual knowledge that the
plaintiff would rely on any legal advice they provided.

As well, the judge found that even if the Licensee had breached
the standard of care, there would have been no damages in
this case, because the Plaintiff would not have been in a better
position if they had terminated the deal before closing. There
was no evidence that another buyer was available, and the
Plaintiff faced imminent foreclosure and personal liability on any
shortfalls from the mortgage.

Real estate –
A bad deal doesn’t mean bad legal advice

Personal injury –
Second guessing a settlement

Clients who enter into improvident deals will sometimes cast
about for someone to blame. Often, their lawyer is an easy target.
But lawyers must do the best with the hand they’re dealt, and
sometimes bad outcomes are beyond the lawyer’s control.

Unfortunately, settlements don’t always put an end to disputes. In
a recent personal injury case, a Plaintiff brought a second cause of
action after settling the original claim on the basis that the settlement
agreed to by the parties was a product of fraud, and the defendant’s
lawyer (the “Licensee”), doctor, and insurer conspired to deny them
information that would have led to a more generous settlement.

In a recent real estate matter, a Plaintiff negotiated and signed a
deal to sell property to a purchaser. The Plaintiff was in dire financial straits, as their mortgage on the property was in arrears and
foreclosure was imminent. The purchaser was aware of the Plaintiff ’s financial situation, and used this lack of bargaining power to
negotiate a very “one sided” deal, as described by the judge. In the
end, the Plaintiff never received any money from the transaction.

The Plaintiff had been involved in a vehicular accident and sued
for personal injury. The defendant’s insurer arranged for the
Plaintiff to be assessed for the purposes of a neuropsychological
medical report. No report was delivered before a settlement offer
made by the Plaintiff was accepted.
14
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Approximately 16 months after the settlement was finalized, the
Plaintiff brought a new claim against the Licensee and other parties.
The plaintiff alleged that the medical report was required to be disclosed under the Rules and, had they been provided with the report,
they would have been able to obtain a more generous settlement.

the accounting, and the claim constituted a collateral attack on the
court-approved settlement.
LAWPRO counsel successfully assisted the Licensees in having
the claim dismissed. The judge found there were no special
circumstances that justified an accounting more than 12
months after the bill was issued for various reasons, including:
the estate was represented by sophisticated counsel; there was
no patent evidence of overcharging; there was no explanation
for why the estate waited so long to bring their claim; and, the
terms of the settlement were generally quite favourable to the
beneficiaries of the estate. The judge also agreed that the claim
was an impermissible collateral attack on the court approved
settlement, which foreclosed the parties from “renegotiating” its
terms, including legal fees.

The claim was founded on, inter alia, the tort of conspiracy, and
alleged the Licensee conspired with the doctor and insurer to
injure the Plaintiff through suppression of the report, either using
lawful or unlawful means.
LAWPRO successfully assisted the Licensee in having the claim
in conspiracy dismissed as disclosing no reasonable cause of
action. To succeed under the tort of conspiracy, the Plaintiff
was required to show that the defendants’ predominant
purpose was to injure the Plaintiff. The judge found that this

LAWPRO subsequently successfully assisted the lawyers in

could not be made out on the pleadings.

having an appeal of this decision dismissed, for the same reasons
found by the lower court judge.

While the Plaintiff also pleaded “unlawful act” conspiracy, the
judge found that this also could not be made out, as a failure
to comply with the Rules was not an “illegal act” in this context,
because there were additional remedies under the Rules to compel compliance or address failure to deliver a medical report.

Lawyers for lawyers
A malpractice claim doesn’t necessarily mean a lawyer made a
mistake, but a defence still needs to be raised. Of the 12 matters
taken to trial in 2019, LAWPRO won nine, with two more under
reserve. LAWPRO was also successful on 16 of 19 summary
judgment motions and won all three summary judgment appeals
brought by claimants. LAWPRO provides effective assistance and
prides itself on defending licensees. n

Wills and estates –
Collateral attacks
Legal fees are often the basis for client disputes—sometimes with
the other side’s client.
In a recent will dispute, the testator’s widow and accountant
were originally named trustees of the estate. One of the testator’s
children (the “Challenger”) challenged the validity of the will, and
retained litigation counsel (the “Licensees”) accordingly. The will
challenge was settled through mediation, and the terms of the settlement provided for the payment of both parties’ legal fees from
the estate’s assets.

In 2019
SUCCESSFUL ON
SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOTIONS

Two months after the settlement was approved, the estate trustees
sought invoices from the Licensees supporting their legal fees. The
Licensees refused to provide these invoices on the basis that the
estate had not been their client, and was therefore not entitled to
such documents.

16 out of 19
SUCCESSFUL ON
SUMMARY JUDGMENT APPEALS

Eighteen months after that, the estate brought a claim for an accounting of the Challenger’s lawyers’ fees under the Solicitors Act,
on the basis that the estate was entitled to an accounting pursuant
to section 9 of the Act as a “party not being the principal” that
paid a bill of costs.

all 3
SUCCESSFUL ON
MATTERS TAKEN TO TRIAL

won 9 out of 12

The Licensees sought summary judgment to dismiss the claim
because it had been brought more than 12 months after the bill
was issued and paid, there were no special circumstances to justify
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practicePRO
Top 2019 initiatives to help lawyers succeed
Corporate/commercial webzine

An important focus for LAWPRO is to help lawyers avoid
claims before they happen. LAWPRO’s practicePRO risk
management initiative is a widely-recognized and
well-respected provider of tools and resources to help
members of the practising bar identify practice risks
and take steps to minimize their claims exposure. A few
examples of our resources are highlighted on the right.

This webzine features an updated corporate/commercial malpractice
claims fact sheet and articles on delegating responsibly and the importance of being aware of limitation periods on corporate matters.

First Timer’s Going to Court Cheat Sheet
Going to court for the first time can be an intimidating experience
for a lawyer. This cheat sheet covers what to wear, where to stand,
the expected decorum and other topics that will help build the
confidence of a lawyer facing this new experience.

LAWPRO Magazine - The Student Issue
Includes articles on the importance of mentors, common practice
pitfalls and 20 tips for making the transition from student to lawyer.

Limitation Period Resources
Two charts help lawyers navigate Ontario’s limitation periods and
notice periods: Limitation and notice periods chart and Limitation
and notice periods – real property chart.

Real estate resources
The real estate webzine looked at four easily avoidable errors that
can cause big problems after closing and included an updated
version of the real estate malpractice claims fact sheet.
Flowchart for a sale by a non-resident helps lawyers navigate when
dealing with the sale of a property by a non-resident seller where
there is no s.116 clearance certificate on closing.
The Real estate file management checklist helps keep track of the
many steps in a transaction and enable effective communication
with clients.
The Fraud Fact Sheet: Real Estate explains ID impersonations, property flips, value frauds, and phishing scams that are successfully
duping lawyers and law clerks.

Find these and more
at practicepro.ca.

Construction lien flowchart
Follow this chart to help determine whether the new Construction Act
or old Construction Lien Act applies to a construction law matter
and which processes should be followed when liening a project. n
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CSR activities reinforce
our values

Our continued commitment to our corporate social
responsibility (CSR) program shines through our contributions to the profession, employee wellness and the
broader Canadian community.

Fostering the legal community
• LAWPRO encourages employee involvement in a wide range
of professional associations and groups that represent diverse
segments of the legal profession. These activities help us gain
insight into members’ priorities and concerns, and allow us to
highlight how LAWPRO’s efforts and activities are supporting
the legal community.

Supporting the broader Canadian community
• Each year, LAWPRO staff nominates and votes on charities for
inclusion in the company’s Denim Friday charitable giving
program. Employee donations are matched by LAWPRO. In
2019, contributions to the charities raised $35,297.54. Donations
of $7,059.51 went to each of Fanconi Canada, Ovarian Cancer
Canada, the Toronto Humane Society, the Good Shepherd Refuge
Social Ministries, and The Equality Effect. In addition, staff-led
initiatives included donations of 264 lasagnas to the Good
Shepherd Homeless Shelter (this translates to 3,960 servings
of hot meals), and collection of non-perishable food items on
World Kindness Day for the Daily Bread Food Bank.

• LAWPRO sponsorship of the annual award of the Caron Wishart
Memorial Scholarship, in its eighth year, went to University of
Toronto Faculty of Law student Gordon Lee.
• LAWPRO hosted the annual National Association of Bar Related
Insurance Companies (NABRICO) conference in Toronto and
connected with member companies from around the world to
share knowledge and expertise.

Promoting wellness and balance
• LAWPRO promotes well-being by providing approximately
one-half of the funding for the Law Society’s arm’s-length
Member Assistance Program (MAP). LAWPRO promoted the
program in presentations, online and through social media. We
also published a LAWPRO Magazine dedicated to mental health
in January 2020 entitled “Finding your way: Coping with health
and wellness issues.”

• LAWPRO encourages employees to take a paid day off each year
to volunteer at an eligible charity. In 2019, employees donated nine
days in support of their chosen charities, such as International
Justice Mission, Daily Bread Food Bank and CP24 CHUM
Christmas Wish program.
• As part of the Canadian Blood Services “Partners for Life”
program, a group of LAWPRO employees pledge annually to
donate a certain number of units of blood. In 2019, staff donated
31 units - enough to save up to 93 lives (an increase from 29
units in 2018).

• In 2019, LAWPRO continued its Equity, Diversity and Inclusion
initiative in partnership with the Canadian Centre for Diversity
and Inclusion (“CCDI”). In furtherance of its EDI journey,
LAWPRO rolled out the option to add pronouns to email
signatures and/or business cards to be more inclusive of transgender and non-binary people. Many free online educational
programs were also made available to staff to create awareness
and encourage dialogue on EDI issues.

• In 2019, the Underwriting and Customer Service department
participated in the Shoebox Project for women impacted by
homelessness, with donations of clothing and essentials. n
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The following Management Discussion and Analysis provides a review of the activities, results of operations and financial condition
of Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Company (“LAWPRO” or the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2019, in comparison
with the year ended December 31, 2018. These comments should be read in conjunction with the corresponding audited financial
statements, including the accompanying notes.

Financial highlights
Statement of profit or loss
During 2019, the Company generated a profit of $4.8 million, a decrease in earnings of $12.0 million over 2018, and experienced a
comprehensive income of $17.8 million compared to $0.2 million loss during the prior year.
Net premiums earned
Premiums earned, net of reinsurance ceded, increased by $0.1 million to $107.6 million in 2019. Premiums from the mandatory Ontario
errors and omissions (“E&O”) insurance program were $0.1 million higher than 2018 results. The optional excess insurance program
remained steady in the year, while TitlePLUS premiums dipped slightly.
Net claims and adjustment expenses
Incurred claims and adjustment expenses in 2019, net of reinsurance recoveries, increased by $18.4 million from 2018. The 2019 results
benefitted from a $29.3 million net reduction to the E&O program’s reserves due to favourable development of prior Fund Years’ loss
experience, compared to $31.4 million in 2018, partially offset by a $4.4 million expense relating to the effect of the decrease in the market
interest yields during the year on reserve discounting, compared with a $2.2 million income in 2018. A continued moderation of claims
severity sustained over recent fiscal years has been a key driver for the prior year development.
Reinsurance
Similar to recent years, the Company purchased two layers of excess-of-loss clash reinsurance coverage, which limits its exposure to one or
more large aggregations of multiple claims arising from the same proximate cause. Furthermore, the Company maintained its 10 per cent
retention in the optional excess program, whereas prior to 2011 the program was fully reinsured. The high level of reinsurance significantly
mitigates exposure to the Company from claims in this program.
General expenses
LAWPRO’s general expenses in 2019 were $0.4 million higher than 2018, though in-line with its annual budget, primarily due to general
inflationary pressures on the operating costs utilized in the Company’s day-to-day operations.
Commissions earned
The Company earned reinsurance commissions of $1.5 million on premium ceded in respect of its 2019 optional excess insurance program,
a similar result to 2018. In addition, the Company also earned slight profit commissions (less than $0.1 million) for favourable claims
development on the quota share reinsurance arrangements that it had prior to January 1, 2003, down slightly from $0.3 million in 2018.
As claims estimates become more certain with time, there is generally less potential for favourable development on claims relating to
older fund years, resulting in a tendency towards lower profit commissions.
Investment income
Income generated from investments increased by $3.3 million to $23.0 million in 2019, a result higher than budget by $4.5 million.
Investment income from interest and dividend receipts increased by $2.2 million to $20.6 million, primarily due to an increase in the amount
the Company invested in equities and fixed income securities during the current year. As a result of the lower market yields during 2019,
the Company experienced a $4.0 million increase in net unrealized gains on its fixed income security portfolio used to match its claims
liabilities, compared to a decrease of $1.1 million in 2018. The 2019 results also included net capital gains of $3.1 million realized on
disposition of investments, compared to $7.0 million in 2018. In addition, during 2019 the Company recognized $3.3 million of unrealized
losses as an impairment due to the significant or prolonged decline of some of its equity securities, compared to $3.2 million in 2018.
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Statement of comprehensive income
Other comprehensive loss
During 2019, LAWPRO experienced other comprehensive income of $13.0 million, primarily due to a significant increase in net unrealized
gains on its surplus investments in the equity security markets. These results compare to other comprehensive loss of $17.1 million
experienced during 2018.
Statement of financial position
Overall, the Company ended 2019 in a satisfactory financial position, with shareholder’s equity up by $17.8 million year over year, as
the net income achieved during the year was aided by the significant other comprehensive income experienced during the same period.
Investments
As at December 31, 2019, the market value of the Company’s investment portfolio exceeded its cost by $38.2 million, compared to 2018
where the market value exceeded cost by $17.6 million. Investment assets, inclusive of cash and cash equivalents and investment income
due and accrued, increased by $34.5 million to $702.8 million as at December 31, 2019. The increase was primarily the result of the
favourable volatile equity markets aided by the positive cash flow provided by operations and investment receipts generated by the portfolio.
The investment portfolio is managed in accordance with the investment policy approved by the Company’s Board of Directors in diversified,
high-quality assets. A portion of the investment portfolio, which is composed of primarily fixed income securities, is invested in a manner
that is expected to substantially match in maturity to the payment of claims liabilities in future years. The portion of the Company’s
investment portfolio which is considered surplus to the requirements of settling claims liabilities is managed separately and includes
fixed income securities and equity investments in publicly traded companies, the values of which are more subject to market volatility.
Provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses and reinsurers’ share thereof
The provision for unpaid claims represents the amount required to satisfy all of the Company’s obligations to claimants prior to reinsurance
recoveries. This balance has increased by $17.0 million. Reinsurance recoverables have increased by $5.8 million and accordingly the
increase in the net provision is $11.2 million. This increase is attributable to the fact that the claims expense relating to the additional
risk associated with underwriting the 2019 program more than offsets the reductions to the net favourable development of prior years’
reserves experienced during the year.

Report on LAWPRO operations
LAWPRO is an insurance company with three product lines: a mandatory E&O insurance program, as required by the Law Society
for all lawyers in private practice in Ontario; an optional excess insurance program that enables Ontario law firms to increase their
insurance coverage limit to a maximum of $9 million per claim/$9 million in the aggregate above the $1 million per claim/$2 million
aggregate levels provided by the mandatory E&O program; and an optional TitlePLUS title insurance product that real estate practitioners
across Canada can make available to their clients.
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The preparation of the annual financial statements, Management’s Discussion and Analysis and all other information in the Company’s
Annual Report is the responsibility of the Company’s management, and the annual financial statements have been approved by the
Board of Directors.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. Financial statements,
by their very nature, include amounts and disclosures based on estimates and judgements. Where alternative methods or interpretations
exist, management has chosen those it deems most appropriate in the circumstances, including appropriate consideration to relevance
and materiality. Actual results in the future may differ materially from management’s current assessment given the inherent variability
of future events and circumstances. Financial information appearing elsewhere in the Company’s Annual Report is consistent with the
financial statements.
Management maintains the necessary system of internal controls over financial reporting to meet its responsibility for the reliability
of the financial statements. These controls are designed to provide management with reasonable assurance that the financial records
are reliable for preparing financial statements and other financial information, assets are safeguarded against unauthorized use or
disposition and liabilities are recognized.
The Board of Directors is responsible to ensure that management fulfils its responsibilities for financial reporting and is ultimately
responsible for reviewing and approving the financial statements. The Board carries out its responsibility primarily through its audit
committee, which is independent of management. The audit committee reviews the financial statements and recommends them to
the Board for approval. The audit committee also reviews and monitors the Company’s system of internal controls over financial
reporting in the context of reports made by management or the external auditor.

Role of the Auditor
The external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has been appointed by the shareholder. Its responsibility is to conduct an
independent and objective audit of the financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and
to report thereon to the Company’s shareholder. In carrying out its audit, the auditor considers the work of the appointed actuary
and his report on the policy liabilities of the Company. The external auditor has full and unrestricted access to the audit committee
and the Board of Directors to discuss audit, financial reporting and related findings. The auditor’s report outlines the scope of its
audit and its opinion.

Role of the Appointed Actuary
The actuary is appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company. With respect to the preparation of these financial statements, the
appointed actuary is required to carry out a valuation of the policy liabilities and to report thereon to the Company’s shareholder. The
valuation is carried out in accordance with accepted actuarial practice and regulatory requirements. The scope of the valuation
encompasses the policy liabilities as well as any other matter specified in any direction that may be made by the regulators. The policy
liabilities consist of a provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses on the expired portion of policies, a provision for future
obligations on the unexpired portion of policies, and other policy liabilities that may be applicable to the specific circumstances of
the Company.
In performing the valuation of the policy liabilities, which are by their very nature inherently variable, the appointed actuary makes
assumptions as to the future rates of claims severity, inflation, reinsurance recoveries, expenses and other matters, taking into consideration
the circumstances of the Company and the nature of the insurance coverage being offered. The valuation is necessarily based on estimates;
consequently, the final values may vary significantly from those estimates. The appointed actuary also makes use of management information
provided by the Company, and uses the work of the auditor with respect to the verification of the underlying data used in the valuation.
Toronto, Ontario
February 29, 2020

Dan Pinnington			

Iveri Boudville

Daniel E. Pinnington			
Iveri Boudville
President & CEO				Controller
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To the Shareholder of Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Company

Our Opinion
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Lawyers’ Professional
Indemnity Company (the Company) as at December 31, 2019 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS).

What we have audited
The Company’s financial statements comprise:
•

the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019;

•

the statement of profit or loss for the year then ended;

•

the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

•

the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

•

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

•

the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements
in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with
Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by management.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

•

If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to
continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, Ontario
February 25, 2020
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Eckler Ltd.
1801 McGill College Avenue, Suite 1460
Montréal, Québec
H3A 2N4

February 25, 2020
I have valued the policy liabilities including reinsurance recoverables of Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Company for its statement of
financial position at 31 December 2019 and their changes in its statement of profit or loss for the year then ended in accordance with
accepted actuarial practice in Canada, including selection of appropriate assumptions and methods.
In my opinion, the amount of the policy liabilities makes appropriate provision for all policy obligations and the financial statements
fairly present the results of the valuation.

Montreal, Quebec

Louis-Christian Dupuis
Fellow, Canadian Institute of Actuaries Eckler Ltd.
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Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars

Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Company

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

2019

2018

114,724

114,784

Income
Gross written premiums

$

Premiums ceded to reinsurers (note 12)

(7,128)

Net written premiums

107,596

(Increase) decrease in unearned premiums (note 11)

11

(7,202)
107,582
(43)

107,607

107,539

23,021

19,711

1,524

1,862

$

132,152

129,112

$

104,337

84,767

Net premiums earned
Net investment income (note 5)
Ceded commissions

Expenses
Gross claims and adjustment expenses (note 10)
Reinsurers’ share of claims and adjustment expenses (note 10)

(4,909)

(3,775)

Net claims and adjustment expenses

99,428

80,992

Operating expenses (note 16)

22,522

22,138

428

-

3,443

3,445

125,821

106,575

6,331

22,537

1,409

5,598

74

87

1,483

5,685

4,848

16,852

Finance costs
Premium taxes
Profit (loss) before income taxes

$

Income tax expense (recovery) (note 15)
Current
Deferred
Profit (loss)

$

Accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars

Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Company

DECEMBER 31,
2019

DECEMBER 31,
2018

18,117

10,281

682,034

655,446

2,620

2,530

70

637

Due from insureds

2,024

2,048

Due from the Law Society of Ontario (note 13)

7,422

8,581

46,297

40,506

897

1,052

1,296

1,534

11,900

1,731

Intangible asset (note 8)

449

439

Income taxes recoverable

892

3,455

AS AT

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Investments (note 5)
Investment income due and accrued
Due from reinsurers

Reinsurers’ share of provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses (note 10)
Other receivables
Other assets
Property and equipment (note 7)

5,783

5,663

$

779,801

733,903

$

491,644

474,649

1,100

1,111

Due to reinsurers

814

683

Due to insureds

100

277

3,776

3,272

Deferred income tax asset (note 15)
Total assets

Liabilities
Provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses (note 10)
Unearned premiums (note 11)

Expenses due and accrued
Lease liabilities (note 9)

10,653

-

413

449

$

508,500

480,441

$

5,000

5,000

30,645

30,645

203,480

199,171

32,176

18,646

271,301

253,462

779,801

733,903

Other taxes due and accrued

Equity
Capital stock (note 17)
Contributed surplus (note 17)
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income

$

Total liabilities and equity
Accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

On behalf of the Board				

Andrew J. Spurgeon		

Daniel E. Pinnington

		
Andrew J. Spurgeon			
Daniel E. Pinnington
		Director					Director
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Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars

Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Company

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

Profit (loss)

$

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of income tax:
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Remeasurements of defined benefit obligation, net of income tax expense
(recovery) of ($194) [2018: $143] (note 14)

2019

2018

4,848

16,852

(539)

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Available-for-sale assets
Net changes unrealized gains (losses), net of income tax expense (recovery)
of $4,721 [2018: ($4,836)]

(397)

13,092

(13,417)

Reclassification adjustment for (gains) losses recognized in profit or loss,
net of income tax (expense) recovery of ($730) [2018: ($2,027)]

(2,023)

(5,622)

Reclassification adjustment for impairments, recognized in profit or loss,
net of income tax expense of $887 [2018: $853] (note 5)

2,461

2,368

Other comprehensive income (loss)

$

12,991

(17,068)

Comprehensive income (loss)

$

17,839

(216)

Accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Statement of Changes in Equity
Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars

Capital stock

Balance at December 31, 2017

Retained
earnings

5,000

30,645

182,716

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year

-

-

16,852

Transfer of defined benefit remeasurements
from OCI to retained earnings

-

-

5,000

30,645

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year

-

-

Transfer of defined benefit remeasurements
from OCI to retained earnings

-

-

5,000

30,645

Balance at December 31, 2018

Balance at December 31, 2019

$

Contributed
surplus

$

$

(397)

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income

Equity

35,317

253,678

(17,068)

(216)

397

-

199,171

18,646

253,462

4,848

12,991

17,839

539

-

32,176

271,301

(539)
203,480

The aggregate of retained earnings and accumulated other comprehensive income as at December 31, 2019 is $235,656 (December 31,
2018: $217,817).
Accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars

Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Company

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

2019

2018

4,848

16,852

74
1,050
219
256
(1,685)
(4,023)
739

87
682
219
(3,735)
661
1,135
15,901

$

(90)
698
(153)
1,159
(5,791)
155
(495)
(2,315)
16,995
(11)
504
(36)
11,359

322
(365)
(109)
(1,583)
(1,011)
2,115
23
4,380
(10,439)
43
1,055
(9)
10,323

$

(154)
(229)
(249,417)
246,688
(3,112)

(649)
(277,042)
257,404
(20,287)

Operating Activities
Profit (loss)
Items not affecting cash:
Deferred income taxes
Amortization of property and equipment
Amortization of intangible asset
Realized (gains) losses on disposition or impairment
Amortization of premiums and discounts on bonds
Changes in unrealized (gains) losses

$

Changes in non-cash working capital balances:
Investment income due and accrued
Due from reinsurers
Due from insureds
Due from the Law Society of Ontario
Reinsurers’ share of provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses
Other receivables
Other assets
Income taxes due and accrued (recoverable)
Provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses
Unearned premiums
Expenses due and accrued
Other taxes due and accrued
Net cash inflow from operating activities

Investing Activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Purchases of intangible asset
Purchases of investments
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments
Net cash outflow from investing activities

Financing Activities
Payment of lease liabilities
Total cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities

(411)
(411)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents during the year
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year consists of:
Cash
Cash equivalents
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Income taxes paid (operating activity)
Interest received (investing activity)
Interest paid (financing activity)
Dividends received (investing activity)
Accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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$

7,836
10,281
18,117

(9,964)
20,245
10,281

$

8,274
9,843
18,117

9,710
571
10,281

3,724
13,787
393
5,047

1,218
14,693
4,692
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1. Nature of Operations
Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Company (the “Company”) is an insurance company, incorporated on March 14, 1990 under the
Corporations Act (Ontario) and licensed to provide lawyers professional liability insurance in Ontario and title insurance in all provinces
and territories in Canada. The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Law Society of Upper Canada, operating as the Law Society
of Ontario (the “Law Society”), which is the governing body for lawyers and paralegals in Ontario. The Company’s registered office is
located at 250 Yonge Street, Toronto, Ontario, Canada.

2. Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies
These financial statements have been prepared under the Insurance Act (Ontario) and related regulations which require that, except as
otherwise specified by the Company’s primary insurance regulator, the Financial Services Regulatory Authority of Ontario (“FSRA”),
the financial statements of the Company are to be prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting standards issued and effective on or before December
31, 2019. None of the accounting requirements of FSRA represent exceptions to IFRS. These financial statements were authorized for
issuance by the Company’s Board of Directors on February 25, 2020.
The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these financial statements are summarized below. These accounting policies
conform, in all material respects, to IFRS.

Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis that are measured at the end of each reporting period, except
for certain financial instruments and the provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses, as explained in the accounting policies
below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given for goods and services.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or liability, the Company takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability that
market participants would likely take into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. A fair value measurement
of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The valuation process includes utilizing market driven fair value measurements from active markets where available, considering other
observable and unobservable inputs and employing valuation techniques which make use of current market data. Considerable judgement
may be required in interpreting market data used to develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented in these
financial statements are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that would be realized in a current market exchange.
The Company utilizes a fair value hierarchy to categorize the inputs used in valuation techniques to measure fair value, which prioritizes
these inputs into three broad levels. The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorized in its
entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For this purpose,
the significance of an input is assessed against the fair value measurement in its entirety. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are:
Level 1 - Quoted market prices in active markets
Inputs to Level 1, the highest level of the hierarchy, reflect fair values that are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets and liabilities. An active market is considered to be one in which transactions for the asset or liability occur with sufficient frequency
and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. Level 1 assets and liabilities include debt and equity securities, quoted
unit trusts and derivative contracts that are traded in an active exchange market, as well as certain government and agency mortgagebacked debt securities that are highly liquid and are actively traded in over-the-counter markets.
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Level 2 – Modelled with significant observable market inputs
Inputs to Level 2 fair values are inputs, other than quoted prices within Level 1 prices that are observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs include: quoted prices for similar (i.e.
not identical) assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not
active, the prices are not current, or price quotations vary substantially either over time or among market makers, or in which little
information is released publicly; inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (for example, interest rates
and yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals, volatilities, prepayment spreads, loss severities, credit risks, and default
rates); and inputs that are derived principally from, or corroborated by, observable market data by correlation or other means (market
corroborated inputs). Valuations incorporate credit risk by adjusting the spread above the yield curve for government treasury securities
for the appropriate amount of credit risk for each issuer, based on observed market transactions. To the extent observed market spreads
are either not used in valuing a security, or do not fully reflect liquidity risk, the valuation methodology reflects a liquidity premium.
Examples of these are securities measured using discounted cash flow models based on market observable swap yields, and listed debt or
equity securities in a market that is inactive. This category generally includes government and agency mortgage-backed debt securities
and corporate debt securities.
Level 3 - Modelled with significant unobservable market inputs
Inputs to Level 3 are unobservable, supported by little or no market activity, and are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
Unobservable inputs may have been used to measure fair value to the extent that observable inputs are not available, thereby allowing
for situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement date (or market information
for the inputs to any valuation models). As such, unobservable inputs reflect the assumptions the business unit considers that market
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. Where estimates are used, these are based on a combination of independent
third-party evidence and internally developed models, calibrated to market observable data where possible. Level 3 assets and liabilities
generally include certain private equity investments, certain asset-backed securities, highly structured, complex or long-dated derivative
contracts, and certain collateralized debt obligations where independent pricing information was not able to be obtained for a significant
portion of the underlying assets.

Use of estimates and judgments made by management
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates and changes in estimates are
recorded in the reporting period in which they are determined. Key estimates are discussed in the following accounting policies and
applicable notes.
Key areas where management has made difficult, complex or subjective judgments in the process of applying the Company’s accounting
policies, often as a result of matters that are inherently uncertain, include:
Impairment
Unpaid claims and adjustment expenses
Income taxes

Note 5c
Note 10
Note 15

Financial instruments – recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified as fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), available-for-sale, held to maturity or loans and receivables.
Financial liabilities are classified as FVTPL or as other financial liabilities. These classifications are determined based on the characteristics
of the financial assets and liabilities, the company’s choice and/or the company’s intent and ability. As permitted under the IFRS standards,
a company has the ability to designate any financial instrument irrevocably, on initial recognition or adoption of the standards, as FVTPL
provided certain criteria are met.
The Company’s financial assets and liabilities are measured on the statement of financial position at fair value on initial recognition and
are subsequently measured at fair value or amortized cost depending on their classification as indicated below.
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Transaction costs for FVTPL investments are expensed in the current period, and for all other categories of investments are capitalized
and, when applicable, amortized over the expected life of the investment. The Company accounts for the purchase and sale of securities
using trade date accounting. Realized gains or losses on disposition are determined on an average cost basis.
The effective interest method is used to calculate amortization/accretion of premiums or discounts on fixed income securities over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the fixed income security, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value in the statement of financial position with realized gains and losses and net changes
in unrealized gains and losses recorded in net investment income along with dividends and interest earned.
The Company maintains an investment portfolio, referred to as the cash-flow matched portfolio, which is designated as FVTPL. This
portfolio is invested with the primary objective of matching the cash inflows from fixed income investment securities with the expected
timing and magnitude of future payments of claims and adjustment expenses. The cash-flow matched portfolio represents a significant
component of the Company’s risk management strategy for meeting its claims obligations. The designation of the financial assets in the
cash-flow matched investment portfolio as FVTPL is intended to significantly reduce the measurement or recognition inconsistency
that would otherwise arise from measuring assets, liabilities, and gains and losses under different accounting methods. Interest rate
movements cause changes in the values of the investment portfolio and of discounted estimated future claims liabilities. As the changes in
values of the matched portfolio and of the discounted estimated future claims liabilities flow through profit or loss, the result is an offset
of a significant portion of these changes.
Cash and cash equivalents are also classified as FVTPL. Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on deposit and short-term investments
that mature in three months or less from the date of acquisition. The net gain or loss recognized incorporates any interest earned on the
financial asset.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Financial assets classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value in the statement of financial position. Net interest income,
including amortization of premiums and the accretion of discounts, are recorded in investment income in profit or loss. Dividend income
on common and preferred shares is included in investment income on the ex-dividend date. Changes in fair value of available-for-sale
fixed income securities resulting from changes to foreign exchange rates are recognized in net investment income as incurred. Changes
in the fair value of available-for-sale fixed income securities related to the underlying investment in its issued currency, as well as all
elements of fair value changes of available-for-sale equity securities, are recorded to unrealized gains and losses in accumulated other
comprehensive income (“AOCI”) until disposition or impairment is recognized, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified
to net investment income in profit or loss. When a reliable estimate of fair value cannot be determined for equity securities that do not
have quoted market prices in an active market, the security is valued at cost.
Financial assets in the Company’s surplus portfolio (consisting of all investments outside the cash-flow matched portfolio), including
fixed income securities and equities, are designated as available-for-sale.

Loan and receivables and Other liabilities
The Company has not designated any financial assets as held to maturity. Due from reinsurers, insureds and Law Society of Ontario and
Other receivables and Due to reinsurers and insured are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Given the short
term nature of these financial assets and liabilities, amortized cost approximates fair value.

Leases
The Company is a lessee under various operating leases relating to premises and equipment. For all leases, except for leases which are
short term or of low value, a right-of-use asset and a lease liability are recognized on the statement of financial position. Right-of-use
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assets are measured on a lease by lease basis and are discounted using the company’s incremental borrowing rates. Right -of -use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of future payments, using
the Company’s incremental borrowing rates. Interest charge is applied based on the discount rate used in the calculation of the initial
lease liability, and increases the value of the lease liability. Amounts paid under the terms of the lease are deducted from the value of the
lease liability, representing the reduction in the Company’s payment obligations.
Prior to the adoption of IFRS 16, leased assets were not recognized in the statement of financial position. Payments made under operating
leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) were charged to income over the period of the lease.

Property and equipment
Property and equipment are recorded in the statement of financial position at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is
charged to operating expense on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment
Computer software
Leasehold improvements
Right-of-use assets

5 years
3 years
1 to 3 years
Term of lease
Term of lease

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising from the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately or internally developed are carried at cost, less any applicable
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Once an acquired intangible asset is available for use, amortization is
recognized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
An intangible asset is derecognized on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
cost of the asset, are recognized in profit and loss when the asset is derecognized.

Impairment
Financial Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are tested for impairment on a quarterly basis. Objective evidence of impairment for fixed income
securities includes financial difficulty of the issuer, bankruptcy or defaults and delinquency in payments of interest or principal. Objective
evidence of impairment for equities includes a significant or prolonged decline in fair value of the equity below cost or changes with
adverse effects that have taken place in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the issuer operates that
indicates the cost of the security may not be recovered. In general, an equity security is considered impaired if the decline in fair value
relative to cost has been either at least 25% for a continuous nine-month period or more than 40% at the end of the reporting period, or
been in an unrealized loss position for a continuous period of 18 to 24 months.
Where there is objective evidence that an available-for-sale asset is impaired, the loss accumulated in AOCI is reclassified to net investment
income. Once an impairment loss is recorded to profit or loss, the loss can only be reversed into income for fixed income securities to
the extent a subsequent increase in fair value can be objectively correlated to an event occurring after the loss was recognized. Following
impairment loss recognition, further decreases in fair value are recorded as an impairment loss to profit or loss, while a subsequent
recovery in fair value for equity securities, and fixed income securities that do not qualify for loss reversal treatment, are recorded to other
comprehensive income (“OCI”). Interest continues to be accrued, but at the effective rate of interest based on the fair value at impairment,
and dividends of equity securities are recognized in income when the Company’s right to receive payment has been established.
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Non-Financial Assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amount of its property and equipment, intangible assets and other
non-financial assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there
is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of an asset
(or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss. If an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Foreign currency translation
The Canadian dollar is the functional and presentation currency of the Company. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
Canadian dollars at rates of exchange at the time of such transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities are translated at current rates of
exchange, with all translation differences recognized in investment income in the current period. If a gain or loss on a non-monetary
asset and liability is recognized in OCI, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognized in OCI, and conversely, if a gain or
loss on a non-monetary asset and liability is recognized in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognized
in profit or loss.

Premium-related balances
The Company issues two types of professional liability policies: a primary lawyer’s errors and omissions policy and an excess policy
increasing the insurance coverage limit to a maximum of $9 million per claim/$9 million in the aggregate above the $1 million per
claim/$2 million aggregate levels provided by the primary policy; and a title insurance policy. Insurance policies written under the
professional liability insurance program are effective on a calendar year basis. Professional liability insurance premium income is earned
on a pro rata basis over the term of coverage of the underlying insurance policies, which is generally one year, except for policies for
retired lawyers, which have terms of up to five years. Title insurance premiums are earned at the inception date of the policies.
Unearned premiums reported on the statement of financial position represent the portion of premiums written that relate to the unexpired
risk portion of the policy at the end of the reporting period.
Premiums receivable are recorded in the statement of financial position as amounts due from insureds, net of any required provision for
doubtful amounts. Premiums received from insureds in advance of the effective date of the insurance policy are recorded as amounts due
to insureds in the statement of financial position.
The Company defers policy acquisition expenses, primarily premium taxes on its written professional liability insurance premiums,
to the extent these costs are considered recoverable. These costs are expensed on the same basis that the related premiums are earned.
The method to determine recoverability of deferred policy acquisition expenses takes into consideration future claims and adjustment
expenses to be incurred as premiums are earned and anticipated net investment income. Deferred policy acquisition expenses are not
material at year-end, and therefore the Company’s policy is to not recognize an asset on the statement of financial position.

Unpaid claims and adjustment expenses
The provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses includes an estimate of the cost of projected final settlements of insurance
claims incurred on or before the date of the statement of financial position, consisting of case estimates prepared by claims adjusters and
a provision for incurred but not reported claims (“IBNR”) calculated based on accepted actuarial practice in Canada as required by the
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Canadian Institute of Actuaries (“CIA”). These estimates include the full amount of all expected expenses, including related investigation,
settlement and adjustment expenses, net of any anticipated salvage and subrogation recoveries. The professional liability insurance policy
requires insureds to pay deductibles to the maximum extent of $25,000 on each individual claim, subject to an additional $10,000 for
certain claims involving an administrative dismissal. Expected deductible recoveries on paid and unpaid claims are recognized net of any
required provision for uncollectible accounts at the same time as the related claims liability.
The provision takes into consideration the time value of money using discount rates based on the estimated market value based yield to
maturity of the underlying assets backing these liabilities, with reductions for estimated investment-related expense and credit risk. A
provision for adverse deviations (“PfAD”) is then added to the discounted liabilities, to allow for possible deterioration of experience in
claims development, recoverability of reinsurance balances and investment risk, in order to generate the actuarial present value.
These estimates of future claims payments and adjustment expenses are subject to uncertainty and are selected from a wide range of possible
outcomes. All provisions are periodically reviewed and evaluated in light of emerging claims experience and changing circumstances.
The resulting changes in estimates of the ultimate liability are reported as net claims and adjustment expenses in the reporting period in
which they are determined.

Reinsurance
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into per claim and excess of loss reinsurance contracts with other insurers in order
to limit its net exposure to significant losses. Amounts relating to reinsurance in respect of the premiums and claims-related balances in
the statements of financial position and profit or loss are recorded separately. Premiums ceded to reinsurers are presented before deduction
of broker commission and any premium-based taxes or duty. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated and recognized in a
manner consistent with the Company’s method of determining the underlying provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses
covered by the reinsurance contract. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each
reporting period. An impairment loss is recognized and the amount recoverable from reinsurers is reduced by the amount by which the
carrying value exceeds the expected recoverable amount under the impairment analysis.
Ceding commissions, which relate to amounts received from the Company’s reinsurers on the placement of its reinsurance contracts, is
earned into income on a pro rata basis over the contract period.

Income taxes
Income tax expense is recognized in profit or loss and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Current tax is
based on taxable income which differs from profit or loss as reported in the statement of profit or loss and statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. Current tax includes any adjustments in respect of prior years.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary income tax differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the enacted or substantively
enacted tax laws and rates that are anticipated to apply in the period of realization. The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
utilizes the liability method, reflecting the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Company expects to recover
or settle the carrying amount of the related assets and liabilities. The carrying amount of the deferred tax asset is reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
Income tax assets and liabilities are offset when the income taxes are levied by the same taxation authority and there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets with current tax liabilities.

Employee benefits
The Company maintains a defined contribution pension plan for its employees as well as a supplemental defined benefit pension plan
for certain designated employees, which provides benefits in excess of the benefits provided by the Company’s defined contribution
pension plan. For the supplemental defined benefit pension plan, the benefit obligation is determined using the projected unit credit
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method. Actuarial valuations are carried out at the end of each annual reporting period using management’s assumptions on items such
as discount rates, expected asset performance, salary growth and retirement ages of employees. The discount rate is determined based on
the market yields of high quality, mid-duration corporate fixed income securities.
Defined contribution plan expenses are recognized in the reporting period in which services are rendered. Regarding the supplemental
defined benefit pension plan, remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the changes to the asset ceiling (if
applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding net interest cost), is reflected immediately in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income with a charge or credit recognized in OCI in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements recognized in OCI
are transferred immediately to retained earnings and will not be reclassified to profit or loss. Past service cost is recognized in profit or
loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net
defined benefit liability or asset. Defined benefit costs are categorized as follows: service cost (including current service, past service cost,
as well as gains or losses on curtailments and settlements), net interest expense or income, and remeasurements. The Company presents
the first two components of defined benefit cost as part of operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss.
The retirement benefit obligation recognized in the statement of financial position represents the actual deficit or surplus in the Company’s
defined benefit pension plan. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of any economic benefits available
in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

3. Application of New and Revised IFRSs Relevant to the Company
In the current year, the Company has applied the following revised IFRSs issued by the IASB that are mandatorily effective for an
accounting period that begins on or after January 1, 2019.

a) IFRS 16 “Leases”
IFRS 16 “Leases” was issued in January 2016, and replaces the previous leases standard, IAS 17 “Leases”. The standard is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. IFRS 16 brings leases onto the statement of financial position for lessees, eliminating the
previous classifications of operating and finance leases.
The Company adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach. This resulted in the recognition of operating leases on the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets ($11,064,281) and corresponding lease liabilities ($11,064,281) at transition. There
was no change in opening retained earnings from the adoption as at January 1, 2019. Comparative information was not restated in
accordance with transitional provisions.
At the transition date, right-of-use assets were measured on a lease-by-lease basis at their carrying amount as if IFRS 16 had been applied
since the lease commencement date, discounted using the Company’s incremental borrowing rates as at January 1, 2019.
Lease liabilities were measured at the present value of future lease payments, using the Company’s incremental borrowing rates. The
weighted-average discount rate applied was 3.95%.
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position. The interest and amortization expense are
presented in Finance costs and Operating expenses respectively in the statement of profit or loss.
Reconciliation of operating lease commitments and lease liabilities:
(in thousands of dollars)

Operating lease commitments as at December 31, 2018

$

Lease renewal terms not previously included in operating lease commitments

16,193
17,561

Operating costs component

(17,924)

Lease liabilities before discounting as at January 1, 2019

$

15,830

$

11,064

Discounting

(4,766)

Lease liabilities as at January 1, 2019
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b) IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments”
In June 2017, the IASB issued IFRIC 23, an interpretation that specifies that, if an entity concludes it is probable that the taxation authority
will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the entity shall determine the tax result consistently with the tax treatment used or planned to be
used in its income tax filing. If it is not probable, the entity shall reflect the effect of uncertainty for each uncertain tax treatment by using
either of the following methods, depending on which one the entity expects to better predict the resolution of the uncertainty: the most
likely amount, representing the single most likely amount in a range of possible outcomes; or the expected value, representing the sum
of the probability-weighted amounts in a range of possible outcomes. The adoption of these amendments did not have any significant
impact on the Company’s financial statements.

c) Amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes” – Income Tax Consequences of Payments on Financial
Instruments Classified as Equity
In December 2017, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 12 to clarify that an entity should account for the income tax on dividends
in profit or loss, OCI or equity, depending on where the entity recognized the originating transaction or event that generated the
distributable profits giving rise to the dividend. The adoption of these amendments did not have any significant impact on the Company’s
financial statements.

d) Amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” – Plan Amendment, curtailment or settlement
In February 2018, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 19 to specify how companies determine pension expense when changes to a
defined benefit pension plan occur. A company would now use updated assumptions from the remeasurement of the net defined benefit
asset (liability) to determine the current service cost and net interest for the period. Currently, it would not have updated its calculation of
these costs until year-end. The adoption of these amendments did not have any significant impact on the Company’s financial statements.

4. New and Revised IFRSs Issued but Not Yet Effective
The Company has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

a) IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
IFRS 9, issued in November 2009 as part of a three-phase project to replace IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”,
introduced new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 was subsequently amended in October
2010 to include requirements for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition, and in November 2013
to include the new requirements for general hedge accounting. Another revised version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 mainly to include
impairment requirements for financial assets as well as limited amendments to the classification and measurements by introducing fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) measurement category for certain simple debt instruments.
Pursuant to IFRS 9, all recognized financial assets that are within the scope of IAS 39 are required to be subsequently measured at amortized
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash
flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, are generally
measured at amortized cost. Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are measured at FVOCI. All other debt securities, as well
as equity securities, are measured at FVTPL. Entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value
of an equity security in OCI, with only dividend income generally recognized in profit or loss. In addition, under the fair value option,
entities may elect for amortized cost or FVOCI debt securities to be designated as FVTPL.
With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as FVTPL, IFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value
of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is to be recognized in OCI, unless the recognition
of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Under IAS
39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as FVTPL is recognized in profit or loss.
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With regards to debt securities measured at amortized cost or FVOCI, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model for determining
impairment, as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires an entity to account
for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before impairment losses are recognized. Under
IFRS 9, impairment is not considered for equity securities.
IFRS 9 as revised (2014) is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. In September 2016, the IASB published
amendments to IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts”, which provides two options for entities that issue insurance contracts: a) recognize in OCI,
rather than profit or loss, the volatility that could arise when IFRS 9 is applied before the new insurance contracts standard is effective (the
‘overlay approach’) and b) if the entity’s activities are predominantly connected with insurance it may exercise a temporary exemption
to continue applying IAS 39 instead of IFRS 9 until January 1, 2021 (the ‘deferral approach’). The Company qualifies for, and has elected
to apply, the deferral option. The Company has concluded that its activities are predominantly connected with insurance, as the amount
of its insurance liabilities are significant compared with its total amount of liabilities and the percentage of its liabilities connected with
insurance relative to its total amount of liabilities is greater than 90 per cent. The Company anticipates that the application of IFRS 9 in
the future may have a material impact on amounts reported in respect of the Company’s financial assets. However, it is not practicable to
provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS 9 until the Company completes its detailed review.
In November 2018, the IASB tentatively decided that the mandatory effective date of IFRS 17 should be deferred by one year, and
consequently, the fixed expiry date for the temporary exemption in IFRS 4 should be amended to annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2022, subject to public consultation.

b) IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”
In May 2017, the IASB published IFRS 17, a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts covering recognition and
measurement, presentation and disclosure, which replaces IFRS 4 and introduces consistent accounting for all insurance contracts. IFRS
17 provides a general model for the recognition of insurance contracts, as well as a simplified model (premium allocation approach) for
short-duration contracts, which will be applicable to most property and casualty insurance contracts. The standard requires a company to
measure insurance contracts using updated estimates and assumptions that reflect the timing of cash flows and any uncertainty relating
to insurance contracts. Additionally, IFRS 17 requires a company to recognize profits as it delivers insurance services.
The main features of the simplified new accounting model for property and casualty insurance contracts are as follows:
•

the concept of portfolio, which is a group of contracts covering similar risks and managed together as a single pool. As such, contracts
will be grouped for allocation of deferred acquisition costs, the calculation of risk adjustment, the determination of onerous contracts
and the application of the discount rate;

•

insurance liabilities will be discounted at a rate that reflects the characteristics of the liabilities (as opposed to a rate based on asset
returns) and the duration of each portfolio. Entities will record the effect of changes in discount rates either in profit or loss or OCI,
according to their accounting policy choice;

•

changes in statement of financial position presentation where unearned premiums will correspond to premiums received in advance,
while accounts receivable will be constituted of amounts not received when revenue is recognized. In profit or loss, direct premiums
written will no longer be presented (only earned premiums). Also, insurance results will be presented without the impact of discounting.
Amounts relating to financing and changes in discount rates will be shown separately;

•

disclosure: extensive disclosures to provide information on the recognized amounts from insurance contracts and the nature and
extent of risks arising from these contracts.

The standard applies to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022, (see note 4b above). Retrospective application is required,
but, if full retrospective application for a group of insurance contracts is impracticable, then the entity is required to choose either a
modified retrospective approach or a fair value approach. The Company plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date
together with IFRS 9 (see note 4b above). The Company has been performing a high-level impact assessment of IFRS 17. The Company
expects that the new standard will result in significant changes to accounting policies for insurance contract liabilities, but the impact has
not yet been determined.
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c) Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” and IAS 8 “Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors”
In October 2018, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 to align the definition of “material” across the standards and to clarify
certain aspects of the definition. The objective of this amendment is to improve disclosure effectiveness in the financial statements by
improving the understanding of the existing requirements rather than to significantly impact an entity’s materiality judgements. The
amendments apply prospectively to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020. The Company is currently assessing the impact
of these amendments.

d) Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
In March 2018, the IASB issued a comprehensive set of concepts for financial reporting: the revised Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting (“Conceptual Framework”), which replaces its previous version. The Conceptual Framework assists companies in developing
accounting policies when no IFRS standard applies to a particular transaction and it helps stakeholders more broadly to better understand
the standards. The revised Conceptual Framework’s effective date is January 1, 2020. The Company does not expect any significant impact
upon its adoption.

5. Investments
a) Summary
The tables below provide details of the cost or amortized cost as well as the fair value of the Company’s investments, classified by accounting
category and investment type:
DECEMBER 31, 2019
Cost or
amortized cost

Gross
unrealized
gains

Gross
unrealized
losses

Fair value

Available-for-sale
Fixed income securities

$

141,718

748

(118)

142,348

126,545

43,632

(11,099)

159,078

$

268,263

44,380

(11,217)

301,426

$

374,936

6,113

(808)

380,241

615

-

(248)

367

375,551

6,113

(1,056)

380,608

$

643,814

50,493

(12,273)

682,034

$

516,654

6,861

(926)

522,589

127,160

43,632

(11,347)

159,445

643,814

50,493

(12,273)

682,034

Common equities
Designated as FVTPL
Fixed income securities
Preferred equities
Total
Reconciled in aggregate to asset classes as follows:
Fixed income securities
Equities
Total

$
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DECEMBER 31, 2018
Cost or
amortized cost

Gross
unrealized
gains

Gross
unrealized
losses

Fair value

Available-for-sale
Fixed income securities

$

144,686

764

(714)

144,736

121,879

28,977

(12,465)

138,391

$

266,565

29,741

(13,179)

283,127

$

370,670

4,129

(2,884)

371,915

615

-

(211)

404

Common equities
Designated as FVTPL
Fixed income securities
Preferred equities
Total

371,285

4,129

(3,095)

372,319

$

637,850

33,870

(16,274)

655,446

$

515,356

4,893

(3,598)

516,651

122,494

28,977

(12,676)

138,795

637,850

33,870

(16,274)

655,446

Reconciled in aggregate to asset classes as follows:
Fixed income securities
Equities
Total

$

In the above tables, the gross unrealized figures for common equities securities includes recognized impairments. As at December 31,
2019, of the total cumulative impairments of $11,121,738 (December 31, 2018: $9,298,441) an amount of $10,477,149 is included in gross
unrealized losses (December 31, 2018: $8,296,259) and an amount of $644,589 is included in gross unrealized gains (December 31, 2018:
$1,002,182). For additional details, see note 5c.

b) Maturity profile of fixed income securities
The maturity profile of fixed income securities and its analysis by type of issuer is as follows:
DECEMBER 31, 2019
Within 1 year

1 to 5 years

Over 5 years

Total

33,023

10,444

241

43,708

17,324

62,465

1,363

81,152

6,170

10,678

640

17,488

$

56,517

83,587

2,244

142,348

$

64,213

44,665

-

108,878

Canadian provincial and municipal governments
Mortgage backed securities

11,856

51,171

33,427

96,454

-

836

1,223

2,059

Corporate debt

10,804

68,432

93,614

172,850

86,873

165,104

128,264

380,241

143,390

248,691

130,508

522,589

27%

48%

25%

100%

Available-for-sale
Issued or guaranteed by:
Canadian federal government

$

Canadian provincial and municipal governments
Corporate debt
Designated as FVTPL
Issued or guaranteed by:
Canadian federal government

Fixed income securities

$

Percent of total
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DECEMBER 31, 2018
Within 1 year

1 to 5 years

Over 5 years

Total

3,303

30,020

265

33,588

21,104

66,486

5,020

92,610

4,279

13,569

690

18,538

28,686

110,075

5,975

144,736

Available-for-sale
Issued or guaranteed by:
Canadian federal government

$

Canadian provincial and municipal governments
Corporate debt
$
Designated as FVTPL
Issued or guaranteed by:
Canadian federal government

$

Canadian provincial and municipal governments
Mortgage backed securities
Corporate debt
Fixed income securities

$

Percent of total

6,795

58,630

4,113

69,538

10,328

48,894

47,419

106,641

-

903

1,582

2,485

8,089

66,345

118,817

193,251

25,212

174,772

171,931

371,915

53,898

284,847

177,906

516,651

10%

55%

35%

100%

The weighted average duration of fixed income securities as at December 31, 2019 is 2.93 years (December 31, 2018: 3.04 years). The
effective yield on fixed income securities as at December 31, 2019 is 2.18% (December 31, 2018: 2.67%).

c) Impairment Analysis
Management performs a quarterly analysis of the Company’s available-for-sale investments to determine whether there is objective
evidence that the estimated cash flows of the investments have been affected. The analysis includes the following procedures as deemed
appropriate by management:
•

identifying all security holdings in unrealized loss positions that have existed for a length of time that management believes may
impact the recoverability of the investment;

•

identifying all security holdings in unrealized loss positions that have an unrealized loss magnitude that management believes may
impact the recoverability of the investment;

•

reviewing the trading range of certain investments over the preceding calendar period;

•

assessing whether any credit losses are expected for those investments. This assessment includes consideration of, among other
things, all available information and factors having a bearing upon collectability such as changes to credit rating by rating agencies,
financial condition of the issuer, expected cash flows and value of any underlying collateral;

•

assessing whether declines in fair value for any fixed income securities represent objective evidence of impairment based on their
investment grade credit ratings from third party security rating agencies;

•

assessing whether declines in fair value for any fixed income securities with non-investment grade credit rating represent objective
evidence of impairment based on the history of its debt service record; and

•

obtaining a valuation analysis from third party investment managers regarding the intrinsic value of these holdings based on their
knowledge, experience and other market based valuation techniques.

As a result of the impairment analysis performed by management, $3,347,733 in write-downs to various equity securities were required
for the year ended December 31, 2019 (2018: $3,221,366), which was recorded under net investment income in the statement of profit or loss.
The remaining gross unrealized losses on AFS impaired securities as at December 31, 2019 is $8,526,300 (December 31, 2018: $7,510,017).
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The movements in cumulative impairment write-downs on available-for-sale investments for the years ended December 31 were
as follows:

Balance, as at January 1

$

Increase for the year charged to profit or loss
Release upon disposition

2019

2018

9,298

6,661

3,348

3,221

(1,524)

Balance, as at December 31

$

(584)

11,122

9,298

d) Net investment income
Net investment income arising from investments designated as FVTPL and classified as available-for-sale recorded in profit or loss for the
year ended December 31 is as follows:
2019
Designated
as FVTPL

Interest

$

Dividends
Net realized gains (losses)
Change in net unrealized gains (losses)
Impairments

Availablefor-sale

Total

Designated
as FVTPL

Availablefor-sale

Total

12,291

3,316

15,607

9,841

3,740

13,581

19

4,999

5,018

19

4,797

4,816

277

2,781

3,058

(688)

7,716

7,028

4,017

(1,124)

34

4,023

(6)

-

(3,348)

(3,348)

7,742

24,352

16,610
Less: Investment expenses
Net investment income

(368)
$

2018

16,242

(963)
6,779

40

(1,331)
23,021

8,048
(402)
7,646

(1,090)

(3,221)

(3,221)

13,066

21,114

(1,001)

(1,403)

12,065

19,711
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6. Fair Value Measurements of Financial Assets
The following tables present the Company’s financial assets measured at fair value.
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019

CARRYING AMOUNT
Designated
at fair value

FAIR VALUE

Availablefor-sale

Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

18,117

-

18,117

18,117

-

-

18,117

380,241

142,348

522,589

317,927

204,662

-

522,589

Common equities

-

159,078

159,078

159,078

-

-

159,078

Preferred equities

367

-

367

-

367

-

367

$ 398,725

301,426

700,151

495,122

205,029

-

700,151

Financial assets measured at fair value
(recurring basis)
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Fixed income securities

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018

CARRYING AMOUNT
Designated
at fair value

FAIR VALUE

Availablefor-sale

Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

10,281

-

10,281

10,281

-

-

10,281

371,915

144,736

516,651

290,912

225,739

-

516,651

Common equities

-

138,391

138,391

138,391

-

-

138,391

Preferred equities

404

-

404

-

404

-

404

$ 382,600

283,127

665,727

439,584

226,143

-

665,727

Financial assets measured at fair value
(recurring basis)
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Fixed income securities

There were no transfers between any levels during the year ended December 31, 2019 (2018: none). Note that for financial instruments,
such as short term trade receivables and payables, as well as the non-recurring financial assets and liabilities, the Company believes that
their carrying amounts are reasonable approximations of fair value.

7. Property and Equipment
During the years ending December 31, details of the movement in the carrying values by class of property and equipment are as follows:

January 1, 2018

$

Additions
Amortization
December 31, 2018
Additions
Amortization
December 31, 2019

$

Furniture
and fixtures

Computer
equipment

Computer
software

Leasehold
improvements

Right-of-use
assets

Total

492

360

184

728

-

1,764

275

107

35

232

-

649

(136)

(206)

(83)

(257)

-

(682)

631

261

136

703

-

1,731

24

81

48

1

11,065

11,219

(158)

(148)

(91)

(74)

497

194

93

630

41

(579)
10,486

(1,050)
11,900
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Details of the cost and accumulated amortization of property and equipment are as follows:
DECEMBER 31, 2019
Cost

Furniture and fixtures

$

Accumulated
amortization

DECEMBER 31, 2018
Carrying
value

Cost

Accumulated
amortization

Carrying
value

2,195

(1,698)

497

2,171

(1,540)

631

Computer equipment

2,912

(2,718)

194

2,830

(2,569)

261

Computer software

1,072

(979)

93

1,025

(889)

136

Leasehold improvements

4,403

(3,773)

630

4,402

(3,699)

703

11,065

(579)

10,486

-

21,647

(9,747)

11,900

10,428

Right-of-use assets
Total

$

(8,697)

1,731

The right-of-use assets above is the office premises and equipment leases, which were capitalized on January 1, 2019 as per IFRS 16.
The Company has a lease agreement for premises at 250 Yonge Street, commencing June 1, 2018 and expiring on May 31, 2028. The
Company has an option to extend the lease period for two additional terms of five years each under the current general terms and
conditions. The above capitalized amount takes into account 10 years of extension.

8. Intangible Asset
The Company’s recognized intangible asset consists of a license and internally developed new platform for TitlePLUS product. The license
associated software became available for use during 2015, and as a result, is being amortized over its expected useful life of 68 months.
The Company started the capitalization of development cost related to a new TitlePLUS platform from January 1, 2019. During the years
ending December 31, details of the movement in the carrying values are as follows:
2019

2018

1,243

1,243

Additions from separate acquistions

-

-

Additions from internal developments

-

-

Software in development not yet in use

229

-

-

-

1,472

1,243

Cost
Balance, beginning of year

$

Disposals or classified as held for sale
Balance, end of year

$

Accumulated amortization and impairment
Balance, beginning of year

$

Amortization expense

(804)

(585)

(219)

(219)

Disposals or classified as held for sale

-

-

Impairment losses

-

-

Balance, end of year

(1,023)

Carrying amount

$

42

449

(804)
439
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9. Provisions and Other Liabilities
Provisions and other liabilities are comprised of the following:
2019

2018

$

102,808

102,769

388,836

371,880

$

491,644

474,649

389

-

Provisions
Expected to be settled in less than one year
Expected to be settled in more than one year
Total
Lease Liabilities
Expected to be settled in less than one year
Expected to be settled in more than one year

$

10,264

-

Total

$

10,653

-

10. Provision for Unpaid Claims and Adjustment Expenses
a) Nature of unpaid claims and adjustment expenses
The determination of the provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses is a complex process based on known facts, interpretations
and judgment and is influenced by a variety of factors. These factors include the Company’s own experience with similar cases and
historical trends involving claim payment patterns, loss payments, pending levels of unpaid claims and adjustment expenses, product mix
and concentration, claims severity and claim frequency patterns.
Other factors include the continually evolving and changing regulatory and legal environment, actuarial studies, professional experience
and expertise of the Company’s claim departments’ personnel and independent adjusters retained to handle individual claims, the quality
of the data used for projection purposes, existing claims management practices including claims handling and settlement practices, the
effect of inflationary trends on future claims settlement costs, investment rates of return, court decisions and economic conditions. In
addition, time can be a critical part of the provision determination, since the longer the span between the incidence of a loss and the
settlement of the claim, the more potential for variation in the ultimate settlement amount. Accordingly, short-tailed claims, such as
property claims, tend to be more reasonably predictable than long-tailed claims, such as professional liability and title claims.
The process of establishing the provision relies on the judgment and opinions of a large number of individuals, on historical precedents
and trends, on prevailing legal, economic, social and regulatory trends and on expectations as to future developments. The provision
reflects expectations of the ultimate cost of resolution and administration of claims based on an assessment of facts and circumstances
then known, together with a review of historical settlement patterns, estimates of trends in claims severity and frequency, legal theories
of liability and other factors.
Consequently, the measurement of the ultimate settlement costs of claims to date that underlies the provision for unpaid claims and
adjustment expenses, and any related recoveries for reinsurance and deductibles, involves estimates and measurement uncertainty. The
amounts are based on estimates of future trends in claim severity and other factors which could vary as claims are settled. Variability can
be caused by several factors including the emergence of additional information on claims, changes in judicial interpretation, significant
changes in severity or frequency of claims from historical trends, and inclusion of exposures not contemplated at the time of policy
inception. Ultimate costs incurred could vary from current estimates. Although it is not possible to measure the degree of variability
inherent in such estimates, management believes that the methods of estimation that have been used will produce reasonable results
given the current information.
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b) Methodologies and assumptions
The best estimates of future claims payments and adjustment expenses are determined based on one or more of the following actuarial
methods: the chain ladder method, the frequency and severity method and the expected loss ratio method. Considerations in the choice
of methods to estimate ultimate claims include, among other factors, the line of business, the number of years of experience and the
relative maturity of the experience, and as such, reflect methods for lines of business with long settlement patterns and which are subject
to the occurrence of large claims.
Each method involves tracking claims data by “policy year”, which is the year in which such claims are made for the Company’s
professional liability policies, and the year in which such policies were written for its title policies. Claims paid and reported, gross and
net of reinsurance recoveries and net of salvage and subrogation, are tracked by lines of business, policy years and development periods
in a format known as claims development triangles.
A description of each of these methods is as follows:
i. Chain ladder method
The distinguishing characteristic of this form of development method is that ultimate claims for each policy year are projected from
recorded values assuming the future claim development is similar to the prior years’ development.
ii. Frequency and severity method
This method assumes that, for each identified homogenous claims type group, claims count reported to date will develop to ultimate in
a similar manner to historical patterns, and settle at predictable average severity amounts. This method involves applying the developed
estimated ultimate claims count to selected estimated ultimate average claim severities.
iii. Expected loss ratio method
Using the expected loss ratio method, ultimate claims projections are based upon a priori measures of the anticipated claims. An expected
loss ratio is applied to the measure of exposure to determine estimated ultimate claims for each year. This method is commonly used in
lines of business with a limited experience history.
Claims data includes external claims adjustment expenses, and for a portion of the portfolio includes internal claims adjustment expenses
(“IAE”). A provision for IAE has been determined based on the Mango-Allen claim staffing technique, a transaction-based method which
utilizes expected future claims handler workload per claim per handler, claims closure rates and ultimate claims count. The IAE provision
is included in the IBNR balances.
The provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses is discounted using an interest rate based on the estimated market value based
yield to maturity, inherent credit risk and related investment expense of the Company’s fixed income securities supporting the provision
for unpaid claims and adjustment expense as at December 31, 2019, which was 2.45% (December 31, 2018: 2.88%). Reinsurance
recoverable estimates and claims recoverable from other insurers are discounted in a manner consistent with the method used to establish
the related liability. Based on published guidance from the CIA, as at December 31, 2019 the PfAD was calculated at 15% (December 31,
2018: 15%) of the net discounted claim liabilities, 1.5% (December 31, 2018: 1.5%) of the ceded discounted claim liabilities, and a 0.50%
reduction to the discount rate (December 31, 2018: 0.50%).
As the provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses is recorded on a discounted basis and reflects the time value of money, its
carrying value is expected to provide a reasonable basis for the determination of fair value. However, determination of fair value also
requires the practical context of a buyer and seller, both of whom are willing and able to enter into an arm’s length transaction. In the
absence of such a practical context, the fair value is not readily determinable.
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The following table shows unpaid claims and adjustment expenses on an undiscounted basis and a discounted basis:
DECEMBER 31, 2019

Unpaid claims and adjustment expenses

Undiscounted

Discounted

Undiscounted

Discounted

$

456,185

491,644

446,247

474,649

(43,331)

(46,297)

(38,423)

(40,506)

$

412,854

445,347

407,824

434,143

Recoverable from reinsurers
Net

DECEMBER 31, 2018

Details of the provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses, by line of business, are summarized as follows:
DECEMBER 31, 2019
Gross

Ceded

DECEMBER 31, 2018
Net

Gross

Net

Ceded

$ 473,748

(46,250)

427,498

458,809

(40,458)

418,351

Title

17,896

(47)

17,849

15,840

(48)

15,792

Total

$ 491,644

(46,297)

445,347

474,649

(40,506)

434,143

Professional liability

The provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses by case reserves and IBNR are as follows:
DECEMBER 31, 2019
Gross

Ceded

DECEMBER 31, 2018
Net

Gross

Ceded

Net

$ 340,465

(3,919)

336,546

319,812

(1,197)

318,615

IBNR

151,179

(42,378)

108,801

154,837

(39,309)

115,528

Total

$ 491,644

(46,297)

445,347

474,649

(40,506)

434,143

Case reserves

An evaluation of the adequacy of claims liabilities is completed at the end of each financial quarter. This evaluation includes a re-estimation
of the liability for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses compared to the liability that was originally established. As adjustments to
estimated claims liabilities become necessary, they are reflected in current operations.
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c) Changes in methodologies or basis of selection of assumptions
Based on the Company’s actuarial valuation process, at each valuation the Company’s claims data is analyzed to determine whether the
current methodologies and basis of selection of actuarial assumptions continue to be appropriate for the determination of the IBNR
provision. Upon review, the Company has deemed it appropriate to maintain the basis of selection of some key assumptions used in its
actuarial valuation methods as at December 31, 2019 as per December 31, 2018.
Details of the claims and adjustment expenses for the year ended December 31 are as follows:
2019
Gross

Claims & external adjustment expenses paid

$

2018

Ceded

77,217

(881)

Net

Gross

Ceded

Net

78,098

85,007

2,762

82,245

Change in case reserves

15,287

2,533

12,754

9,188

(2,992)

12,180

Change in IBNR

(6,206)

2,374

(8,580)

(16,000)

4,243

(20,243)

Discount expense

7,057

883

6,174

(4,006)

10,125

-

10,125

10,198

-

10,198

857

-

857

380

-

380

$ 104,337

4,909

99,428

84,767

3,775

80,992

IAE paid
Change in provision for IAE
Total

(238)

(3,768)

Changes in the provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses, including IAE, recorded in the statement of financial position
during the year is comprised of the following:
2019

2018

434,143

445,593

Prior years’ incurred claims

(27,927)

(32,134)

Current year’s incurred claims

121,181

116,894

Prior years

(74,327)

(79,267)

Current year

(13,897)

(13,175)

6,174

(3,768)

Provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses – January 1 – net

$

Change in net provision for claims and adjustment expenses due to:

Net claims and adjustment expenses paid in relation to:

Impact of discounting
Provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses – December 31 – net

445,347

434,143

Reinsurers’ share of provisions for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses

46,297

40,506

491,644

474,649

Provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses – December 31 – gross

$

d) Loss development tables
The tables on the following pages show the development of claims, excluding IAE, by policy year over a period of time. The first table
reflects development for gross claims, which excludes any reductions for reinsurance recoverables. The second table reflects development
for net claims, which is gross claims less reinsurance recoverables. The top triangle in each table shows how the estimates of total claims
for each policy year develop over time as more information becomes known regarding individual claims and overall claims frequency
and severity. Claims are presented on an undiscounted basis in the top triangle. The bottom triangle in each table presents the cumulative
amounts paid for claims and external loss adjustment expenses for each policy year at the end of each successive year. At the bottom of
each table, the provision for IAE as well as the effect of discounting and the PfAD, as at December 31, 2019, is presented based on the net
amounts of the two triangles.
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Before the effect of reinsurance, the loss development table is as follows:
POLICY YEAR
All Prior
Years

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

90,778

98,870

110,380

102,937

103,962

106,879

113,990

112,943

109,102

112,533

One Year Later

90,585

100,573

93,630

95,423

92,844

96,377

107,475

100,803

93,763

Two Years Later

89,394

97,841

90,749

91,649

87,845

91,393

99,401

97,582

Three Years Later

87,128

96,265

88,237

89,307

88,634

95,395

97,735

Four Years Later

87,341

87,906

84,248

88,060

84,889

92,689

Five Years Later

84,680

87,930

86,065

85,900

81,410

Six Years Later

85,491

90,765

75,850

83,205

Seven Years Later

85,107

88,168

75,276

Eight Years Later

87,051

89,480

Nine Years Later

87,654

Total

Estimate of
Ultimate Claims
At end of Policy year

$

Cumulative Claims Paid
At end of Policy year

(4,628)

(6,868)

(4,744)

(4,167)

(5,516)

(5,896)

(7,299)

(6,969)

(8,043)

One Year Later

(16,553)

(17,678)

(15,743)

(18,406)

(18,123)

(19,993)

(21,104)

(22,535)

(21,020)

Two Years Later

(30,239)

(30,885)

(26,124)

(30,668)

(30,339)

(30,943)

(35,102)

(33,687)

Three Years Later

(42,488)

(44,452)

(36,429)

(41,705)

(40,880)

(42,433)

(45,204)

Four Years Later

(54,208)

(54,632)

(46,319)

(50,229)

(45,911)

(54,319)

Five Years Later

(61,111)

(62,242)

(54,637)

(56,457)

(51,069)

Six Years Later

(66,828)

(70,458)

(61,579)

(62,188)

Seven Years Later

(71,672)

(74,595)

(64,018)

Eight Years Later

(78,488)

(77,873)

Nine Years Later

(79,582)

Estimate of
Ultimate Claims

87,654

89,480

75,276

83,205

81,410

92,689

97,735

97,582

93,763

(79,582)

(77,873)

(64,018)

(62,188)

(51,069)

(54,319)

(45,204)

(33,687)

(21,020)

23,095

8,072

11,607

11,258

21,017

30,341

38,370

52,531

63,895

72,743

104,300

437,229

198

99

222

297

613

775

1,157

1,687

2,554

4,027

7,327

18,956

2,279

651

977

988

1,864

2,741

3,339

4,443

5,189

5,502

7,486

35,459

Present Value recognized
in the Statement of
Financial Position
$ 25,572

8,822

12,806

12,543

23,494

33,857

42,866

58,661

71,638

82,272

119,113

491,644

Cumulative Claims Paid
Undiscounted
Claims Liabilities
Provision for IAE
Discounting
(including PfAD)
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After the effect of reinsurance, the loss development table is as follows:
POLICY YEAR
All Prior
Years

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

86,458

94,874

106,381

98,696

99,579

102,534

109,643

108,683

104,752

108,190

One Year Later

86,265

96,577

89,631

91,183

88,460

92,032

103,128

96,542

89,413

Two Years Later

85,075

93,845

86,750

87,409

83,462

87,047

95,054

93,322

Three Years Later

82,808

92,269

84,238

85,066

84,251

91,049

93,388

Four Years Later

83,022

83,910

80,249

83,819

80,506

88,344

Five Years Later

80,361

83,934

82,066

81,660

77,027

Six Years Later

81,172

86,769

71,851

78,964

Seven Years Later

80,788

84,173

71,277

Eight Years Later

82,731

85,484

Nine Years Later

83,334

Total

Estimate of
Ultimate Claims
At end of Policy year

$

Cumulative Claims Paid
At end of Policy year

(4,628)

(6,868)

(4,744)

(4,167)

(5,516)

(5,896)

(7,299)

(6,969)

(8,043)

One Year Later

(16,553)

(17,678)

(15,741)

(18,406)

(18,123)

(19,993)

(21,104)

(22,535)

(21,020)

Two Years Later

(30,239)

(29,976)

(26,122)

(30,668)

(30,339)

(30,943)

(35,002)

(33,687)

Three Years Later

(42,466)

(43,542)

(36,421)

(41,705)

(40,880)

(42,433)

(45,105)

Four Years Later

(54,111)

(53,722)

(46,312)

(50,229)

(45,911)

(54,319)

Five Years Later

(61,000)

(61,207)

(54,628)

(56,449)

(51,069)

Six Years Later

(66,705)

(69,423)

(59,086)

(62,180)

Seven Years Later

(71,545)

(73,560)

(62,575)

Eight Years Later

(78,361)

(76,838)

Nine Years Later

(79,456)

Estimate of
Ultimate Claims

83,334

85,484

71,277

78,964

77,027

88,344

93,388

93,322

89,413

(79,456)

(76,838)

(62,575)

(62,180)

(51,069)

(54,319)

(45,105)

(33,687)

(21,020)

(8,233)

19,637

3,878

8,646

8,702

16,784

25,958

34,025

48,283

59,635

68,393

99,957

393,898

198

99

222

297

613

775

1,157

1,687

2,554

4,027

7,327

18,956

1,988

366

764

804

1,555

2,412

3,028

4,151

4,915

5,251

7,259

32,493

Present Value recognized
in the Statement of
Financial Position
$ 21,823

4,343

9,632

9,803

18,952

29,145

38,210

54,121

67,104

77,671

114,543

445,347

Cumulative Claims Paid
Undiscounted
Claims Liabilities
Provision for IAE
Discounting
(including PfAD)
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11. Unearned Premiums
The following changes have occurred in the provision for unearned premiums during the years ended December 31:
2019

Balance, as at January 1

$

2018

1,111

1,068

107,596

107,582

Less: Net premiums earned during the year

(107,607)

(107,539)

Increase (decrease) in unearned premiums

(11)

Net premiums written during the year

Balance, as at December 31

$

1,100

43
1,111

The estimates for unearned premium liabilities have been actuarially tested to ensure that they are sufficient to pay for future claims and
expenses in servicing the unexpired policies as of the valuation dates.

12. Reinsurance
The Company’s reinsurance program consists of a 90% quota share cession on its excess professional liability policies (2018: 90%), and a
$10 million in excess of $5 million per occurrence clash reinsurance arrangement which provides protection for single events that bring
about multiple professional liability and/or title claims with an additional $20 million in excess of $15 million per occurrence. Reinsurance
does not relieve the Company of its primary liability as the originating insurer. In the event that a reinsurer is unable to meet obligations
assumed under reinsurance agreements, the Company is liable for such amounts. Reinsurance treaties typically renew annually and the
terms and conditions are reviewed by senior management and reported to the Company’s Board of Directors. Reinsurance agreements
are negotiated with reinsurance companies that have an independent credit rating of “A-” or better and that the Company considers
creditworthy. Based on current information on the financial health of the reinsurers, no provision for doubtful debts has been made in
the financial statements in respect of reinsurers.

13. Related Party Transactions
Pursuant to a service agreement effective January 1, 1995, and as amended effective September 30, 2009, the Company administers the
Errors and Omissions Insurance Fund (the “Fund”) of the Law Society and provides all services directly related to the operations and
general administration of the Fund in consideration for the Law Society insuring its mandatory professional liability insurance program
with the Company.
The insurance policy under the mandatory professional liability insurance program of the Law Society is written by the Company and is
effective on a calendar year basis. The insurance policy is renewed effective January 1 each year subject to the Law Society’s acceptance of
the terms of renewal submitted by the Company. The annual policy limits for each of the years effective January 1, 1995 to December 31,
2019 are $1 million per claim and $2 million in aggregate per member. Under the insurance policy that was in force between July 1, 1990
and December 31, 1994, the Company was responsible for claims in excess of the Law Society and member deductibles. The provision for
unpaid claims and adjustment expenses is net of amounts relating to policies for years prior to 1995 that are payable by the Law Society.
For the year ended December 31, 2019, $102,772,498 of the gross premiums written related to mandatory insurance coverage provided to
the Law Society and its members (2018: $102,657,327). As at December 31, 2019, the Company had a balance due from the Law Society
of $7,422,485 (December 31, 2018: $8,580,811 due from Law Society).
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company contributed to the Law Society $351,328 in regards to a wellness program to be made
available to the insureds of the Company’s primary liability policy (2018: $300,055). This expenditure is included in the ‘professional fees’
category of operating expenses (see note 16).
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The total compensation to Company personnel classified as key management, being those having authority and responsibility for
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, including directors of the Company, is as follows:

Short-term compensation and benefits

$

Post employment benefits
$

2019

2018

3,112

3,974

390

401

3,502

4,375

14. Employee Benefits
The Company has a defined contribution pension plan which is available to all its employees upon meeting the eligibility requirements.
Each employee is required to contribute 4.5% of yearly maximum pensionable earnings, and 6% in excess thereof, of an employee’s annual
base earnings. Under the plan, the Company matches all employee contributions. In 2019, the Company made payments of $761,697
(2018: $801,365) and recorded pension expense of $826,418 (2018: $903,100).
The Company also has a supplemental defined benefit pension plan, which provides pension benefits on a final salary or fixed schedule
basis, depending on certain criteria. Measurements and funding requirements of this plan are based on valuations prepared by an external
actuary. For reporting purposes the plan is measured using the projected unit credit method, which involves calculating the actuarial
present value of the past service liability to members including an allowance for their projected future earnings. Funding requirements for
the plan are determined using the solvency method, which utilizes the estimated cost of securing each member’s benefits with an insurance
company or alternative buy-out provider as at the valuation date. The valuation methods are based on a number of assumptions, which
vary according to economic conditions, including prevailing market interest rates, and changes in these assumptions can significantly
affect the measurement of the pension obligations.
Funding for the supplemental plan commenced in 2005, with $1,156,227 in contributions made in 2019 (2018: 124,457) and recorded
pension expenses of $241,903 in 2019 (2018: $238,037). Funding requirements are reviewed annually with an actuarial valuation for
funding purposes effective as at December 31. As the Company’s defined benefit pension plan qualifies as a “retirement compensation
arrangement” pursuant to the Income Tax Act, half of any required annual contribution to the plan is remitted to the Canada Revenue
Agency, held in a refundable tax account and refunded in prescribed amounts as actual benefit payments are made to the participants. The
most recent actuarial valuation for funding purposes was performed effective December 31, 2019. Management’s preliminary estimate is
that $844,000 is the required contribution to the plan during the year ending December 31, 2020.
The assets of both pension plans are held separately from those of the Company in funds under the control of trustees.
The defined benefit pension plan exposes the Company to risks such as: investment risk, interest rate risk, longevity risk and salary risk.
Investment risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated using a discount rate determined by reference
to high quality mid-duration corporate bond yields; if the return on plan assets is below this rate, it will create a
plan deficit. Currently the plan has a relatively balanced investment in equity and fixed income securities. Due to
the long-term nature of the plan liabilities, the Company considers it appropriate that a reasonable portion of the
plan assets should be invested in equity securities to leverage the return generated by the fund.

Interest rate risk

A decrease in the market interest rate will increase the plan obligation; however, this will be partially offset by an
increase in the return of the plan’s fixed income securities.

Longevity risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan obligation is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the
mortality of plan participants both during and after their employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the
plan participants will increase the plan’s obligation.

Salary risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the future salaries of plan
participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the plan participants will increase the plan’s obligation.
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The following represents the assets and liabilities associated with pension benefits measured using values as at December 31:
Defined benefit plan obligation
2019

2018

8,552

8,528

Current service cost

294

285

Interest cost

323

289

-

-

Accrued benefit obligation
Balance, as at January 1

$

Remeasurement (gains) losses:
Actuarial (gains) losses - demographic assumptions
Actuarial (gains) losses - financial assumptions

801

(428)

Actuarial (gains) losses - experience adjustments

123

203

(480)

(325)

Benefits paid
Balance, as at December 31

$

9,613

8,552

2019

2018

9,492

10,122

376

336

Defined benefit plan assets

Plan assets
Fair value, as at January 1

$

Interest income on plan assets
Remeasurement gains (losses):
Return on plan assets greater (less) than discount rate
Benefits paid

191

(765)

(480)

(325)

Employer contribution

1,156

124

10,735

9,492

Fair value, as at December 31

$

The defined benefit plan assets arise primarily from employer contributions that are originally allocated equally between deposits with
the Government of Canada and investments in the units of a balanced pooled fund. The fair values of the above equity and fixed income
securities are derived based on quoted market prices in active markets. The plan assets contain the following financial instrument allocation:
DECEMBER 31,
2019

DECEMBER 31,
2018

Equity securities

30.62%

30.69%

Fixed income securities

20.63%

20.68%

0.23%

0.28%

48.52%

48.35%

100%

100%

Cash and cash equivalents
Refundable-tax account
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Reconciliation of funded status surplus of the benefit plans to the amounts recorded in other assets in the financial statements is as follows:
DECEMBER 31,
2019

Fair value of plan assets

$

Accrued benefit obligation
Accrued benefit asset

$

DECEMBER 31,
2018

10,735

9,492

(9,613)

(8,552)

1,122

940

The accrued benefit asset is included in other assets in the statement of financial position.
Amounts recognized in comprehensive income in respect of the defined benefit plan in the year ended December 31:
2019

2018

294

285

-

-

(52)

(47)

$

242

238

$

123

203

801

(428)

924

(225)

(191)

765

Service cost:
$

Current service cost
Past service cost and (gain) loss from settlements
Net interest (income) expense
Components of defined benefit costs recognized in profit or loss
Remeasurement on the net defined benefit liability:
Actuarial (gain) loss due to liability experience
Actuarial (gain) loss due to liability assumption changes
Actuarial (gain) loss arising during year
Return on plan assets (greater) less than discount rate
Change in irrecoverable surplus (effect of asset ceiling)
Components of defined benefit costs recognized in OCI
Total

$

-

-

733

540

975

778

The significant assumptions used by the Company for year-end measurement purposes are as follows:

Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase
Mortality

2019

2018

3.05%

3.75%

4.50% starting in 2021

4.5% starting in 2022

CPM 2014 Priv mortality table with
generational mortality improvements
following Scale MI-2017; pension size
adjustment factors of 0.83 for males
and 0.88 for females

CPM 2014 Priv mortality table with
generational mortality improvements
following Scale MI-2017; pension size
adjustment factors of 0.83 for males
and 0.88 for females

The sensitivity of the key assumption, namely discount rate, assuming all other assumptions remain constant, is as follows: as at December
31, 2019, if the discount rate was 1% higher / (lower) the defined benefit obligation would decrease by $1,111,816 (increase by $1,359,062).
Note that the sensitivity analysis may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the
change in assumption would occur in isolation of one or other changes as some of the assumptions may be correlated.
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The expected maturity profile of the defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2019 is as follows:

Expected benefit payments

$

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

Thereafter

480

480

480

479

479

2,442

The defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2019 by participant category is as follows:
Active participants
Pensioners

799
8,814

15. Income Taxes
a) Income tax expense recognized in profit or loss
The total income tax expense recognized in profit or loss is comprised as follows:
2019

2018

1,022

5,396

387

202

1,409

5,598

74

87

-

-

74

87

1,483

5,685

Current income tax
(Recovered) expensed during the year

$

Prior year adjustments
Total current income tax expense (recovery)

$

Deferred income tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences
Changes in statutory tax rates
Total deferred income tax expense (recovery)
Total income tax expense (recovery)

$

Deferred income tax expense (recovery) recognized in profit or loss represents movements on the following items:
2019

2018

(148)

152

Investments

(39)

(39)

Pensions

238

(44)

23

18

74

87

Unpaid claims and adjustment expenses

$

Property and equipment
$
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b) Income tax expense recognized in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income
The total income tax expense recognized in OCI is comprised as follows:
2019

2018

$

4,878

(6,010)

$

4,878

Current income tax
Unrealized investment gains and losses on available-for-sale portfolio
Pensions

-

Total current income tax expense

(6,010)

Deferred income tax
Unrealized investment gains and losses on available-for-sale portfolio

-

-

Pensions

(194)

(143)

Total deferred income tax expense

(194)

(143)

Total income tax expense in OCI

$

4,684

(6,153)

c) Income tax reconciliation
The following is a reconciliation of income taxes, calculated at the statutory income tax rate, to the income tax provision included in profit
or loss.

Profit or loss before income taxes

$

Statutory income tax rate
Provision for (recovery of) income taxes at statutory rates

2019

2018

6,332

22,537

26.50%

26.50%

1,678

5,972

Increase (decrease) resulting from:
Investments
Non-deductible meals and entertainment
Other non-deductible items
Provision for (recovery of) income taxes

$

(613)

(516)

31

27

387

202

1,483

5,685

The statutory rate applicable to the Company at December 31, 2019 is same as at December 31, 2018.
During the year, the Company made income tax payments of $3,724,353 (2018: $1,218,284) and received no income tax refunds (2018:
nil) from the various taxing authorities.
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d) Net deferred income tax asset
The Company’s net deferred income tax asset is the result of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The sources of these temporary differences and the tax
effects are as follows:
DECEMBER 31,
2019

DECEMBER 31,
2018

Deferred tax assets
Net provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses - within one year

$

- greater than one year
Property and equipment

- within one year
- greater than one year

1,333

1,315

4,568

4,438

-

-

334

357

6,235

6,110

Deferred tax liabilities
Investments

- within one year
- greater than one year

Pension

- within one year

(39)

(197)

(236)

-

- greater than one year
Total net deferred tax assets

(39)

$

-

(216)

(172)

(452)

(447)

5,783

5,663

The Company believes that, based on available information, it is probable that the deferred income tax assets will be realized through a
combination of future reversals of temporary differences and taxable income.

16. Operating Expenses
The following table summarizes the Company’s operating expenses by nature:
2019

2018

13,791

13,312

Professional fees

2,293

2,210

Occupancy lease

1,252

1,331

881

873

Directors remuneration

1,052

1,004

Information systems

1,607

1,216

Office and administrative expenses

395

1,010

Amortization of property and equipment

859

665

Communication

392

517

22,522

22,138

Salaries and benefits

$

Financial processing fees

Total

$

Included in salaries and benefits are amounts for future employee benefits under a defined contribution plan of $761,697 (2018: $801,365)
and a supplementary defined benefit plan of $241,903 (2018: $238,037).
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17. Capital Stock and Contributed Surplus
Capital stock of the Company represents:
30,000 Common Shares of par value of $100 each - authorized, issued and paid.
20,000 6% non-cumulative, redeemable, non-voting Preferred Shares of par value of $100 each - authorized, issued and paid.
The Preferred Shares meet the definition of equity in accordance with the criteria outlined in IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”.
Contributed surplus represents additional capitalization funding provided by the Law Society.

18. Statutory Insurance Information
The Company is the beneficiary of trust accounts in the amount of $1,097,800 as at December 31, 2019 (December 31, 2018: $1,102,762)
which are held as security for amounts recoverable from unregistered reinsurers of $70,879 (2018: $70,765). This trust balance is not
reflected in these financial statements but is considered in determining statutory capital requirements.
In accordance with licensing requirements, the Company no longer requires deposited securities with the regulatory authorities
(December 31, 2018: nil).

19. Capital Management
Capital is comprised of the Company’s equity. As at December 31, 2019 the Company’s equity was $271,301,246 (December 31, 2018:
$253,461,526). The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain financial strength and protect its claims paying abilities,
to maintain creditworthiness and to provide a reasonable return to the shareholder over the long term. In conjunction with the Company’s
Board of Directors and its Audit Committee, senior management develops the capital strategy and oversees the capital management
processes of the Company. Capital is managed using both regulatory capital measures and internal metrics.
FSRA, the Company’s primary insurance regulator, along with other provincial insurance regulators, regulate the capital required in
the Company using two key measures, i.e., Minimum Capital Test (“MCT”) and the Dynamic Capital Adequacy Test (“DCAT”). FSRA
mandates the MCT guideline which sets out 100% as the minimum and 150% as the supervisory target for P&C insurance companies.
To ensure that it attains its objectives, the Company has established an internal target of 170% (2018: 170%) in excess of which, under
normal circumstances, the Company will maintain its capital. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company complied with
the various provincial regulators’ guidelines and as at December 31, 2019, the Company has a MCT ratio of 242% (December 31, 2018:
237%). Annually, the Company’s Appointed Actuary prepares a DCAT on the MCT to ensure that the Company has adequate capital
to withstand significant adverse event scenarios. These scenarios are reviewed each year to ensure appropriate risks are included in
the testing process. The Appointed Actuary must present both an annual report and the DCAT report to management and the Audit
Committee. The DCAT report prepared during the year indicated that the Company’s capital position is satisfactory. In addition, the
target, actual and forecasted capital position of the Company is subject to ongoing monitoring by management using stress and scenario
analysis to ensure its adequacy.
The Company may use reinsurance to manage its capital position.

20. Risk Management
By virtue of the nature of the insurance company business, financial instruments comprise the majority of the Company’s statement of
financial position as at both December 31, 2019 and 2018. The most significant identified risks to the Company which arise from holding
financial instruments and insurance contract liabilities include insurance risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The market risk
exposure of the Company is primarily related to changes in interest rates and adverse movement in equity prices.
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The Company employs an enterprise-wide risk management framework which establishes practices for risk management and includes
policies and processes to identify, assess, manage and monitor risks and risk tolerance limits. It provides governance and supervision
of risk management activities across the Company’s business units, promoting the discipline and consistency applied to the practice of
risk management.
The Company’s risk framework is designed to minimize risks that could materially adversely affect the value or stature of the Company, to
contribute to stable and sustainable returns, to identify risks that the Company can manage in order to increase earnings, and to provide
transparency of the Company’s risks through internal and external reporting. The Company’s risk philosophy involves undertaking risks
for appropriate return and accepting those risks that meet its objectives. The Company’s risk management program is aligned with its
long term vision and its culture supports an effective risk management program. The key components of the risk culture include acting
with fairness, appreciating the impact of risk on all major stakeholders, embedding risk management into day to day business activities,
fostering full and transparent communications, cooperation, and aligning of objectives and incentives. The Company’s risk management
activities are monitored by its Risk Committee and Board of Directors.
The risk exposure measures expressed below primarily include the sensitivity of the Company’s profit or loss, and OCI as applicable, to the
movement of various economic factors. These risk exposures include the sensitivity due to specific changes in market prices and interest
rate levels projected using internal models as at a specific date, and are measured relative to a starting level reflecting the Company’s assets
and liabilities at that date and the actuarial factors, investment returns and investment activity the Company assumes in the future. The
risk exposures measure the impact of changing one factor at a time and assume that all other factors remain unchanged. Actual results can
differ materially from these estimates for a variety of reasons including the interaction among these factors when more than one changes,
changes in actuarial and investment return and future investment activity assumptions, actual experience differing from the assumptions,
changes in business mix, effective tax rates, and other market factors and general limitations of the Company’s internal models.

a) Insurance risk
Insurance risk is the risk of loss due to actual experience differing from the experience assumed when a product was designed and
priced with respect to claims, policyholder behaviour and expenses. The Company has identified pricing risk, concentration of risk and
reserving risk as its most significant sources of insurance risks. The Company’s underwriting objective is to develop business within its
target market on a prudent and diversified basis and to achieve profitable operating results.
Pricing risk
Pricing risk arises when actual claims experience differs from the assumptions included in pricing calculations. Historically, the
underwriting results of the property and casualty industry have fluctuated significantly due to the cyclicality of the insurance market.
The market cycle is affected by the frequency and severity of claims, levels of capacity and demand, general economic conditions and
price competition.
The Company focuses on profitable underwriting using a combination of experienced underwriting staff, pricing models and price
adequacy monitoring tools. The Company prices its products taking into account numerous factors including claims frequency and
severity trends, product line expense ratios, special risk factors associated with the product line, and the investment income earned on
premiums held until the payment of claims and expenses. The Company’s pricing is designed to ensure an appropriate return while also
providing long-term rate stability. These factors are reviewed and adjusted periodically to ensure they reflect the current environment.
Concentration of risk
A concentration of risk represents the exposure to increased losses associated with an inadequately diversified portfolio of policy coverage.
The Company has a reinsurance program to limit its exposure to catastrophic losses from any one event or set of events. The Company
has approximately 99% of its business in Ontario (2018: 99%) and 95% in professional liability (2018: 95%), and consequently is exposed
to trends, inflation, judicial changes and regulatory changes affecting these segments.
Reserving risk
Reserving risk arises because actual claims experience can differ adversely from the assumptions included in setting reserves, in large
part due to the length of time between the occurrence of a loss, the reporting of the loss to the insurer and the ultimate resolution of the
claim. Claims provisions reflect expectations of the ultimate cost of resolution and administration of claims based on an assessment of

57

Notes to Financial Statements

2019
Annual
report

For the year ended December 31, 2019
Amounts stated in Canadian dollars (amounts in tables in thousands)

Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Company

facts and circumstances then known, a review of historical settlement patterns, estimates of trends in claims severity and frequency, legal
theories of liability and other factors. Reserve changes associated with claims of prior periods are recognized in the current period, which
could have a significant impact on current year profit or loss. In order to mitigate this risk the Company utilizes information systems in
order to maintain claims data integrity, and the claims provision valuations are prepared by an internal actuary on a quarterly basis, and
are reviewed separately by, and must be acceptable to, management of the Company every quarter and the external Appointed Actuary
at mid-year and year-end.
Sensitivity analyses
Risks associated with property and casualty insurance contracts are complex and subject to a number of variables which complicate
quantitative sensitivity analysis. The Company considers that the provision for its unpaid claims and adjustment expenses recognized in
the statement of financial position is adequate. However, actual experience will differ from the expected outcome. Among the Company’s
lines of business, the professional liability line of business has the largest provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses. Given this
line of business and the actuarial methods utilized to estimate the related provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses, the
reported claims count development factors and average claim severity selections are the most critical of the assumptions used. The
following table provides the estimated increase (decrease) of the net provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expense and the after-tax
net effect on equity if the reported claims count development factors were increased such that the estimate of unreported claims was 20%
higher or the average claim severity selections were 1% higher. Other changes in assumptions are considered to be less material.
DECEMBER 31, 2019
Net provision
for unpaid claims
and adjustment
expenses

DECEMBER 31, 2018

Equity

Net provision
for unpaid claims
and adjustment
expenses

Equity

Unreported claims +20%

4,493

(3,302)

4,856

(3,569)

Average claim severities +1%

3,757

(2,761)

3,786

(2,783)

b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the inability or unwillingness of a borrower or counterparty to fulfill its payment obligation to the
Company. Credit risks arise from cash and cash equivalents, investments in fixed income securities and preferred shares, and balances
due from insureds and reinsurers.
Management monitors credit risk and any mitigating controls. The Company has established a credit review process where the credit
quality of all exposures is continually monitored so that appropriate prompt action can be taken when there is a change which may have
material impact.
Governance processes around investments include oversight by the Board of Directors’ Investment Committee. The oversight includes
reviews of the Company’s third party investment managers, investment performance and adherence to the Company’s investment policy.
The Company’s investment policy statement is reviewed at least on an annual basis and addresses various matters including investment
objectives, risks and management. Guidelines and limits have been established in respect of asset classes, issuers of securities and the
nature of securities to address matters such as quality and concentration of risks.
With respect to credit risk arising from balances due from reinsurers, the Company’s exposure is measured to reflect both current exposure
and potential future exposure to ceded liabilities. Reinsurance and insurance counterparties must also meet minimum risk rating criteria.
The Company’s Board of Directors has approved a reinsurance policy, which is monitored by the Company’s Audit Committee.
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The following table provides a credit risk profile of the Company’s applicable investment assets and amounts recoverable from reinsurers.
DECEMBER 31, 2019
AAA

AA

A

BBB

BB and
lower

Not rated

Carrying
value

6,622

8,110

3,130

-

-

255

18,117

Fixed income securities

172,252

136,238

132,626

81,271

202

-

522,589

Investment income due
and accrued

Cash and cash equivalents

$

291

373

983

744

11

218

2,620

Due from reinsurers

-

-

70

-

-

-

70

Due from insureds

-

-

-

-

-

2,024

2,024

Due from the Law Society
of Ontario

-

-

-

-

-

7,422

7,422

Reinsurers’ share of provisions
for unpaid claims and
adjustment expenses

-

-

46,297

-

-

-

46,297

Other receivables

-

-

-

-

-

897

897

$ 179,165

144,721

183,106

82,015

213

10,816

600,036

Total

DECEMBER 31, 2018
AAA

AA

A

BBB

BB and
lower

Not rated

Carrying
value

466

8,391

-

-

-

1,424

10,281

Fixed income securities

123,855

139,152

163,824

88,848

972

-

516,651

Investment income due
and accrued

221

392

1,117

568

13

219

2,530

Due from reinsurers

-

-

631

-

-

6

637

Due from insureds

-

-

-

-

-

2,048

2,048

Due from the Law Society
of Ontario

-

-

-

-

-

8,581

8,581

Reinsurers’ share of provisions
for unpaid claims and
adjustment expenses

-

-

40,458

-

-

48

40,506

Other receivables

-

-

-

-

-

1,052

1,052

$ 124,542

147,935

206,030

89,416

985

13,378

582,286

Cash and cash equivalents

Total

$

Fixed income securities are rated using a composite of Moody’s, Standard & Poor and Dominion Bond Rating Service ratings, and
reinsurers are rated using A.M. Best. The balances in the above tables do not contain any amounts that are past due.

59

Notes to Financial Statements

2019
Annual
report

For the year ended December 31, 2019
Amounts stated in Canadian dollars (amounts in tables in thousands)

Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Company

c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have enough funds available to meet all expected and unexpected cash outflow
commitments as they fall due. Under stressed conditions, unexpected cash demands could arise primarily from a significant increase in
the level of claim payment demands.
To manage its cash flow requirements, the Company has arranged diversified funding sources and maintains a significant portion of
its invested assets in highly liquid securities such as cash and cash equivalents and government bonds (see note 5b). In addition, the
Company has established counterparty exposure limits that aim to ensure that exposures are not so large that they may impact the ability
to liquidate investments at their market value.
Claims liabilities account for the majority of the Company’s liquidity risk. A significant portion of the investment portfolio is invested
with the primary objective of matching the investment asset cash flows with the expected future payments on these claims liabilities.
This portion, referred to as the cash-flow matched investment portfolio, consists of fixed income and preferred equity securities that
are intended to address the liquidity and cash flow needs of the Company as claims are settled. The remainder of the Company’s overall
investment portfolio, the available-for-sale portfolio, backs equity and is invested in fixed income securities and equities with the objective
of preserving capital and achieving an appropriate return consistent with the objectives of the Company.
The following tables summarize the maturities of the assets and contractual obligations by contractual maturity or expected cash flow
dates (the actual repricing dates may differ from contractual maturity because certain securities and debentures have the right to call or
prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties) as at:
DECEMBER 31, 2019
Within
one year

One to
five years

More than
five years

No fixed
maturity

Total

18,117

-

-

-

18,117

Investments - designated as FVTPL

86,873

165,104

128,264

367

380,608

Investments - available-for-sale

56,517

83,587

2,244

159,078

301,426

2,620

-

-

-

2,620

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Investment income due and accrued

70

-

-

-

70

2,024

-

-

-

2,024

Reinsurers’ share of unpaid claims

10,736

23,603

8,992

-

43,331

Due from Law Society of Ontario

7,422

-

-

-

7,422

897

-

-

-

897

Due from reinsurers
Due from insureds

Other receivable

174

-

-

1,122

1,296

$

185,450

272,294

139,500

160,567

757,811

$

103,984

248,027

104,174

-

456,185

Due to reinsurers

814

-

-

-

814

Due to insureds

100

-

-

-

100

Other assets
Total
Liabilities
Provision for unpaid claims

Lease liabilities
Expenses due and accrued
Total

$

803

3,241

10,983

-

15,027

3,776

-

-

-

3,776

109,477

251,268

115,157

-

475,902
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DECEMBER 31, 2018
Within
one year

One to
five years

More than
five years

No fixed
maturity

Total

10,281

-

-

-

10,281

Investments - designated as FVTPL

25,212

174,772

171,931

404

372,319

Investments - available-for-sale

28,686

110,075

5,975

138,391

283,127

2,530

-

-

-

2,530

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Investment income due and accrued

637

-

-

-

637

Due from insureds

2,048

-

-

-

2,048

Reinsurers’ share of unpaid claims

9,590

20,652

8,180

2,084

40,506

Due from Law Society

8,581

-

-

-

8,581

Other receivable

1,052

-

-

-

1,052

Due from reinsurers

594

-

-

940

1,534

$

89,211

305,499

186,086

141,819

722,615

$

102,769

243,855

99,622

28,403

474,649

Due to reinsurers

683

-

-

-

683

Due to insureds

277

-

-

-

277

Other assets
Total
Liabilities
Provision for unpaid claims

Expenses due and accrued
Total

$

3,272

-

-

-

3,272

107,001

243,855

99,622

28,403

478,881

d) Market and interest rate risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables
such as interest rate, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices. Due to the nature of the Company’s business, invested assets and insurance
liabilities as well as revenues and expenses are impacted by movements in capital markets, interest rates, and to a lesser extent, foreign
currency exchange rates. Accordingly, the Company considers these risks together in managing its asset and liability positions and
ensuring that risks are properly addressed. These risks are referred to collectively as market price and interest rate risk - the risk of loss
resulting from movements in market price, interest rate, credit spreads and foreign currency rates.
Interest rate risk is the potential for financial loss arising from changes in interest rates. The Company is exposed to interest rate price
risk on monetary financial assets and liabilities that have a fixed interest rate and is exposed to interest rate cash flow risk on monetary
financial assets and liabilities with floating interest rates that are reset as market rates change.
For FVTPL assets and other financial assets supporting actuarial liabilities, the Company is exposed to interest rate risk when the cash
flows from assets and the policy obligations they support are significantly mismatched, as this may result in the need to either sell assets
to meet policy payments and expenses or reinvest excess asset cash flows under unfavourable interest environments. Bonds designated as
available-for-sale generally do not support actuarial liabilities. Changes in fair value, other than foreign exchange rate gains and losses, of
available-for-sale fixed income securities are recorded to OCI.
The following chart provides the estimated increase (decrease) on the Company’s net investment income, net provision for unpaid claims
and adjustment expenses, and after-tax comprehensive income, after an immediate parallel increase or decrease of 1% in interest rates as
at December 31 across the yield curve in all markets.
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DECEMBER 31, 2019
Net provision for
unpaid claims and
adjustment expenses

Net investment
income

Interest rates

After-tax OCI

After-tax CI

+1%

(8,792)

(11,136)

(1,327)

(21,255)

-1%

9,283

11,493

1,366

22,142

After-tax OCI

After-tax CI

DECEMBER 31, 2018

Net investment income

Interest rates

Net provision for unpaid
claims and adjustment
expenses

+1%

(9,449)

(10,605)

(1,797)

(21,851)

-1%

9,954

11,229

1,854

23,037

Market price and interest rate risk is managed through established policies and standards of practice that limit market price and interest
rate risk exposure. Company-wide market price and interest rate risk limits are established and actual positions are monitored against
limits. Target asset mixes, term profiles, and risk limits are updated regularly and communicated to portfolio managers. Actual asset
positions are periodically rebalanced to within established limits.
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities decrease as the result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the value of
individual equity securities. The Company’s equities are designated as available-for-sale and generally do not support actuarial liabilities.
The following chart provides the estimated increase (decrease) on the Company’s after-tax OCI, assuming all other variables held constant,
after an immediate 10% increase or decrease in equity prices as at December 31.
2019

2018
After-tax OCI

Equity prices

+10%

11,692

10,172

-10%

(11,692)

(10,172)

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign
exchange rates, in particular when an asset and liability mismatch exists in a different currency than the currency in which they are
measured. As the Company does not hold significant liabilities in foreign currencies, the resulting currency risk is borne by the Company
and forms part of its overall investment income. The table below details the effect of a 10% movement of the currency rate against the
Canadian dollar as at December 31, with all other variables held constant.
2019

2018

Effect on profit (loss)
before taxes (+/-)

Effect on
OCI (+/-)

Effect on profit (loss)
before taxes (+/-)

Effect on
OCI (+/-)

26

4,150

8

3,411

Euro

-

1,333

-

1,310

Other

1

2,115

-

177

27

7,598

8

4,898

Currency

US Dollar
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The Company also manages possible excessive concentration of risk. Excessive concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are
engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their
ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political and other conditions. Concentrations
indicate the relative sensitivity of the Company’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographic location. In
order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Company applies specific policies on maintaining a diversified portfolio. Identified
risk concentrations are managed accordingly.
The following tables summarize the carrying amounts of financial assets by geographical location of the issuer, as at:
DECEMBER 31, 2019
Cash
and cash
equivalents

Fixed
income
securities

17,948

USA
Japan

Canada

$

Equities

Investment
income due
and accrued

Total

% of total

515,300

56,014

2,295

591,557

84.2%

54

1,002

44,986

53

46,095

6.6%

-

-

9,743

23

9,766

1.4%

France

-

-

8,776

-

8,776

1.2%

Others

115

6,287

39,926

249

46,577

6.6%

18,117

522,589

159,445

2,620

702,771

100.0%

Total

% of total

Total

$

DECEMBER 31, 2018
Cash
and cash
equivalents

Fixed income
securities

Equities

Investment
income due
and accrued

10,197

510,400

49,837

2,178

572,612

85.7%

84

-

35,481

46

35,611

5.3%

France

-

-

8,886

20

8,906

1.3%

Japan

-

-

8,064

21

8,085

1.2%

Others

-

6,251

36,527

265

43,043

6.5%

10,281

516,651

138,795

2,530

668,257

100.0%

Canada

$

USA

Total

$

21. Contingent Asset
In 2013, the Income Tax Act was amended to extend tax exempt status given to certain subsidiaries of Canadian municipalities to also
include certain subsidiaries of public bodies performing a function of government in Canada. Transitional rules were also included
to allow applicable taxpayers to refile on this tax exempt basis for their taxation years beginning after May 8, 2000. After completing a
detailed and careful evaluation of the applicability of the new provisions to the Company, the Company believes that it is probable that
a refund claim would be successful. Accordingly, during 2014 the Company began filing as a tax exempt organization for income tax
purposes, and has requested full retrospective exemption back to its 2001 taxation year. The income tax payments relating to taxation
years 2001 onwards total as much as $87,826,061. The exemption would also give rise to significant ongoing future income tax savings,
but the Company’s deferred income tax asset would be of nil value.
Canada Revenue Agency did not approve the Company’s request for exemption and the Company appealed to the Tax Court of Canada.
The judgement was released in 2018 and the Company was not successful. The Company further appealed to the Federal Court of Appeal
with a hearing taking place in October 2019 and the Company is awaiting judgment.
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The Board of Directors, either directly or through its committees, bears responsibility for the stewardship of the Company. To
discharge that responsibility, the Board supervises the management of the business and the affairs of the Company, including the
oversight or monitoring of all significant aspects of the operation, so that the Company effectively and efficiently fulfills its mission,
vision and values.
The Company’s corporate governance framework, processes, structures and information are designed to strengthen the ability of the
Board to oversee management, and to enhance long-term policyholder value. Every director has a duty to guide the Company’s affairs
in a manner that achieves the Company’s objectives.
The corporate governance processes and mandate are derived, in part, from the Ontario Insurance Act and regulatory “best practices,”
and are expressed in the Company’s corporate governance framework.

Board Independence
Demonstrable evidence of independence is at the heart of effective governance. Independence is normally a matter of a board
demonstrating its ability to act independently of management when appropriate. Currently, only the chief executive officers of
LAWPRO and the Law Society of Ontario are “affiliated” to the Company within the meaning of applicable legislation. A minority
of directors are Benchers or employees of the Law Society of Ontario.

Board Composition
Annually, the Board reviews its composition to determine whether or not the Board is optimally structured to ensure the achievement
of the corporate strategy and business plan. Also important is a regular assessment of the skills, experience and independence of those
on the Board.

Board Responsibilities
The basic oversight responsibilities of the Board are described in its corporate governance framework, and include:
•

Corporate performance oversight: The Board ensures that corporate management continuously and effectively strives to meet the two
opposing goals of minimizing premiums and achieving a satisfactory financial result, taking account of risk.

•

Appointment of CEO and related human resources issues: The Board appoints the CEO and approves the CEO’s objectives,
assesses his or her performance and determines compensation of the CEO. As well, the Board approves key appointments
reporting to the CEO, reviews key executive performance and approves compensation policy and succession plans.

•

Strategic direction and policy: The Board reviews and approves management’s proposed strategic direction and policy matters,
and ensures that policies on key issues, including exposure to various risks, are in place, are appropriate and are reviewed to ensure
compliance with same.

•

Budgeting and planning: The Board approves the Company’s proposed budgets and other performance goals, reviews performance
against goals and recommends corrective actions.

•

Risk Management: The Board monitors all categories of risk affecting the Company’s operations, approves risk management
strategies and assesses risk management performance, including the Company’s audit universe and its Own Risk and Solvency
Assessment (ORSA).
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•

Regulatory compliance and financial monitoring: Through an independent audit committee, the Board requires and monitors
regulatory compliance, appoints the auditor, oversees the audit process and reviews and approves financial reports. The Board also
ensures that financial systems produce accurate and timely information, and that appropriate controls are in place.

•

Ensuring its own effectiveness: The Board establishes committee structures that assist the effective operations of the Board, and
enable a review and assessment of the Board’s own performance.

•

Setting an appropriate cultural tone: Through its support for the corporation’s vision, mission and values and corporate social
responsibility statement and its adherence to the Code of Business Conduct, the Board promotes a culture of integrity, exemplary
business conduct, and due regard for the fair treatment of customers while acting in a commercially reasonable manner.

Board Committees
The members of the Board are assisted in fulfilling the responsibilities explained above through the following committees:

Audit committee
The audit committee assists the Board in monitoring:
•

the integrity of the Company’s financial reporting process;

•

the financial and solvency risks that the Company is exposed to;

•

the controls for managing those risks, including the internal audit function; and

•

the independence and performance of the Company’s external auditor and actuary.

Conduct review committee
The conduct review committee oversees the Company’s compliance with the related party provisions of the Ontario insurance legislation.

Executive committee
The executive committee has the authority of the Board, subject to the limitations of law and those set forth in the Company’s bylaws,
to consider urgent matters that require action prior to the next Board meeting. Actions taken by the executive committee are reported
to the full Board at the next meeting.
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Governance committee
The governance committee:
•

assists the Board in its oversight role with respect to: a) the development of the Company’s corporate governance policies, practices
and processes; and b) the effectiveness of the Board and its committees;

•

identifies individuals qualified and suitable to become Board members and recommends the director nominees to each annual
meeting of the shareholder;

•

assists the Board in its oversight role with respect to: a) the Company’s human resources strategy, policies and programs; and b)
all matters relating to proper utilization of human resources within the Company, with special focus on management succession,
development and compensation;

•

oversees procedures for resolving conflicts of interest; and

•

assists the Board in liaising with the shareholder.

Investment committee
The investment committee:
•

assists the Board and management in managing the invested assets of the Company;

•

develops and monitors investment policies and guidelines;

•

provides recommendations to the Board in connection with the hiring of external investment managers; and

•

meets with and monitors the performance of external investment managers.

Risk committee
The risk committee assists the Board in monitoring all risks (other than financial and solvency risks) to which the Company is subject
and overseeing the development and implementation of appropriate risk management policies and programs.
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